NEW JERSEY DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION SCIENCE ADVISORY BOARD

FINAL REPORT

Biofuels

Prepared for:

Commissioner Shawn M. LaTourette

Prepared by:

Climate and Atmospheric Sciences Standing Committee

Approved by:

NJDEP SCIENCE ADVISORY BOARD

Richard H. Kropp, M.S., P.E. (Chairperson) Clinton J. Andrews, Ph.D., P.E. (Abstained) Lisa Axe, Ph.D. Michel Boufadel, Ph.D., P.E. Tinchun Chu, Ph.D. John E. Dyksen, M.S., P.E. John T. Gannon, Ph.D. Michael Gochfeld, M.D., Ph.D. Charles R. Harman, M.A. Robert J. Laumbach, M.D., MPH Robert J. Lippencott, Ph.D. Tavit O. Najarian, Sc.D. David A. Robinson, Ph.D. Nancy C. Rothman, Ph.D. David J. Velinsky, Ph. D. Judith S. Weis, Ph.D.

April 2023

REPORT PREPARATION

This report was prepared by the following members of the Climate and Atmospheric Sciences Standing Committee and ad hoc members:

- Clinton Andrews (ad hoc member)
- Michael Aucott
- Anthony Broccoli
- Serpil Guran (external ad hoc member)
- Gal Hochman
- Pankaj Lal (external ad hoc member)

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS:

The authors would like to thank the NJDEP staff for their support and assistance in the preparation of this report.

Please cite as: NJDEP Science Advisory Board. 2023. Biofuels. Ad Hoc Biofuels Work Group. Trenton, NJ. 55 pp.

Table of Contents

Executive Summary	5
Introduction and Overview	5
1. New Jersey's energy economy	6
i. How we use energy and where our energy comes from	6
ii. Why we're trying to decarbonize	7
iii. Decarbonization options	7
2. Biomass feedstocks	8
i. Energy Crops	8
a. Short rotation woody crops - Switchgrass, miscanthus, hybrid poplar, willow, etc	8
ii. Waste Biomass as feedstocks for Bioenergy	10
a. Food	10
b. Agricultural Waste (crop waste and animal waste)	11
c. Residential – yard and municipal waste	12
3. Biogas production methods currently in use in NJ and elsewhere	12
i. Deposition of municipal solid waste (MSW) in landfills and collection of landfill gas	12
ii. Anaerobic digestion	13
4. Estimated quantity of biogas feasible to produce and/or access in NJ using current productio methods	
i. Upon full implementation of NJ's food waste law	17
ii. With expanded collection from landfills and wastewater treatment plants	19
iii. Upon further expansion to include the residential wet organic portion of municipal solid waste	19
iv. Upon further expansion to include out-of-state sources delivered by existing natural gas pipelines	20
5. Methods of increasing biogas production	21
i. Increasing available feedstock suitable for production with current technology	21
a. Imports of wastes and manure	21
b. Changes in amount of waste exported	22
c. Increased source separation and collection of food waste in NJ	23
d. Increased use of anaerobic digestion at wastewater treatment plants	23
e. Aquatic plants	24
ii. Technical developments making biogas production feasible from additional biomass	26
iii. Enhancing anaerobic digester efficiency and function	27

6. Actions needed for biogas technically feasible to produce in NJ with current technology to be introduced to the existing natural gas pipeline system, cost estimates and related aspects of such introduction
7. Identification of possible methods and estimation of likely feasibility of using biofuels other than biogas introduced to existing combustion turbines and pipeline infrastructure to generate electricity in NJ
i. Co-firing electricity generating facilities with dry biomass and liquid
ii. Generating electricity using biogas at biogas production sites and feeding this electricity into the grid
iii. Expanded generation of electricity by combined heat and power facilities and other small electricity generating facilities fueled by biofuels other than biogas
8. Alternative uses for biogas that could take precedence over electric generation: building/space heating
9. Alternate uses of available biomass that could take precedence over its use to produce biogas
i. Aviation biofuels:
ii. Carbon sequestration:
iii. Soil amendments:
10. Assessment of viability of biofuels options to meet NJ's net neutral electricity generation goals
11. Implications and Recommendations
i. Implications
ii. Recommendations
References

Executive Summary

This report was generated by an ad hoc committee based in the Climate and Atmospheric Sciences Standing Committee of the Science Advisory Board of the New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection. In mid-2021, the committee was charged with providing information on the bioenergy feedstocks and sources available to New Jersey, the emissions benefits of the associated biofuels, and recommendations for biofuels that would aid New Jersey in meeting its net neutral electric generation goals. This charge to the SAB was triggered as a response to the projection in New Jersey's 2019 Energy Master Plan that the State will need to produce 10.1 TWh of electricity from biogas or other biofuels to meet the goal of 80% reduction of 2006 greenhouse gas emissions by 2050.

The report summarizes an exploration of scientific literature along with consideration of existing and potential sources of biofuels in New Jersey. In particular, the following topics are discussed in detail: New Jersey's energy economy, biomass feedstocks available, biogas production methods, estimated quantity of biogas feasible with current technology, methods capable of increasing biogas production, actions needed to introduce biogas into the existing natural gas pipeline system, identification of methods of using biofuels with existing powerplants and pipeline infrastructure, alternate uses for biofuels such as building heating, alternate uses of available biomass that could take precedence over using it to produce biogas, and assessment of the viability of biofuels to meet New Jersey's net neutral electricity generation goal.

The authors conclude that with current technologies, up to approximately 150 million m³ of biogas could be produced annually. If cleaned up to acceptable standards and fed into the existing natural gas pipeline system and combusted in natural gas-burning power plants, this would allow for the generation of 0.7 TWh of yearly electrical production. There are large uncertainties associated with this estimate, so a value of 1 TWh can be considered plausible. This estimation includes reported and projected production from Trenton Biogas and the proposed Linden Renewable Energy facility, and conversion to biogas from 50% collection of all food wastes generated in the state, including residences and facilities not covered by NJ's food waste law, and 50% of potential generation from NJ landfills and wastewater treatment plants.

Although this report focuses on the availability of biofuels primarily from waste products in New Jersey using current technologies, the potential range for electricity production could be expanded if other sources are considered. Specifically, the use of lignocellulosic waste or the development of new technologies could increase methane production. Imports of food waste or other wet organic waste could also add to feedstock availability.

Introduction and Overview

In its "Revised Memo: SAB Research Task; Biofuels," DEP asks the Science Advisory Board (SAB) to gather available information on non-fossil carbonaceous materials that could potentially be used to produce energy. The Department also seeks a summarization of the emissions benefits of using these feedstocks, and recommendations, including a cursory evaluation of the associated economics, on which biofuels would be most viable for New Jersey to achieve its net neutral generation goals.

As explained in the Revised Memo, DEP's request is triggered by the projection in New Jersey's 2019 Energy Master Plan (NJ Board of Public Utilities, 2019) that, to meet the State's goal of 80% reduction of 2006 greenhouse gas emissions by 2050, the State will need to produce approximately 10.1 TWh of electricity from biogas or other biofuels. Further, these biofuels will need to be fed

into the existing natural gas pipeline infrastructure and thereby supplied to existing gas-burning power plants.

The sections that follow discuss

- 1. New Jersey's energy economy,
- 2. Biomass feedstocks available and potentially available,
- 3. Biogas production methods currently in use in New Jersey and elsewhere,
- 4. Estimated quantity of biogas feasible to produce with current technology,
- 5. Methods potentially capable of increasing biogas production,
- 6. Actions needed to introduce biogas into the existing natural gas pipeline system,
- 7. Identification of possible methods and feasibility of using biofuels other than biogas coupled with the existing powerplants and pipeline infrastructure to generate electricity in NJ,
- 8. Alternate uses for biofuels that could take precedence over electric generation, including building/space heating
- 9. Alternate uses of available biomass that could take precedence over its use to produce biogas,
- 10. Assessment of the viability of biofuels to meet New Jersey's net neutral electricity generation goal and implications of possible associated policy options, and
- 11. Implications and Recommendations.

The SAB has augmented its team working on this project with academic scholars and researchers with relevant expertise. The combined team has searched the literature and gathered information from other available sources and subjected its findings to multiple reviews. Nevertheless, because of the wide varieties of biomass types and their potential uses, and the uncertainties of the results of ongoing and yet-to-be contemplated research, this report should not be considered definitive, but rather a guideline for future work to clarify the role of biomass in New Jersey's energy future.

1. New Jersey's energy economy

i. How we use energy and where our energy comes from

New Jersey uses energy for agricultural and industrial processes, space heating and air conditioning of buildings, transportation, cooking, the operation of tools and appliances, and for other purposes. Much of the total energy used is derived from direct combustion of fossil fuels, primarily natural gas, gasoline, and diesel fuel. Besides obtaining energy from direct combustion, New Jersey consumes electricity from both in state and out of state generation. In 2021 the State consumed approximately 72.6 terawatt-hours (TWh) of electricity (US DOE/EIA, 2021), which was produced chiefly through natural gas combustion and nuclear power, although coal combustion and solar photovoltaic energy and other renewables also contributed to the total. In 2019, the combustion of fuels accounted for 85% of the State's total greenhouse gas emissions, with the transportation sector contributing 19.4.1 MMT CO₂e, the combined commercial and industrial sectors contributing 18.2 MMT CO₂e, and the residential sector contributing 15.3 MMT CO₂e, for a total emission from fossil fuel combustion of 90.9 MMT CO₂e (NJDEP, 2022). ¹ The remaining emissions

¹ All numbers represented utilize the 100-year global warming potential values.

(14%) were from non-energy sectors, most of which consisted of non-CO₂ greenhouse gases: methane, nitrous oxide and the highly warming halogenated/fluorinated gases.

ii. Why we're trying to decarbonize

New Jersey's Global Warming Response Act (GWRA) establishes a goal to reduce emissions by 20% below 2006 levels by 2020 and 80% by 2050—known as the 80x50 goal. Largely due to a shift from coal to natural gas as a major fuel for electricity generation, New Jersey has already successfully reduced emissions by 20% below 2006 levels. To meet the considerably more challenging 80x50 goal, New Jersey must implement an economy-wide transformation that steadily phases out the use of fossil fuels and expedites the deployment of renewable energy resources and other measures (NJDEP, 2020).

As stated in the GWRA, the New Jersey Legislature found that (1) global warming, driven by emissions of greenhouse gases, risks catastrophic changes to Earth's ecosystems and environment, (2) each country and region within a country must do its part to reduce these emissions, (3) there are specific actions that a state can take to attack the problem of global warming, and (4) that it is in the public interest to establish a greenhouse gas emissions reduction program for New Jersey.

The current vision of the road to 100% clean energy by 2050 includes the rapid adoption of three key strategies: (1) replacing internal combustion vehicles with electric vehicles, (2) converting space and water heating in the residential and commercial buildings to electric heat, and (3) replacing fossil fuels in the electric generation sector with renewable energy sources. Included in the latter goal is augmenting the State's wind and solar photovoltaic (PV) capacity with biomass-based energy generation.

There is a wide variety of materials that can be considered biomass, including wastes and dedicated vegetative crops. Managing these resources in an optimum manner will require consideration of many perspectives. An important guiding principle is embodied in the circular carbon economy concept, which seeks to promote an economic system based on reuse of products and raw materials and the restorative capacity of natural resources. The circularity approach redefines waste as a "resource" and feeds the resource back into the economy efficiently.

iii. Decarbonization options

Regardless of the degree to which the State succeeds in minimizing and reusing carbon-containing wastes, to meet the goal of the Global Warming Response Act, it will need to reduce its greenhouse gas emissions to 24.1 million metric tons CO₂e by 2050 (NJDEP, 2019). Implementation of the strategies noted above will require replacement of fossil fuel combustion energy sources with a greater than two-fold increase in electricity consumption by 2050 (NJDEP, 2020). This will require the following:

1) In-state solar capacity will have to grow at a rate approximately three times as fast as it has grown over the last decade, and it will have to maintain this faster rate of growth for the next 28 years. As referenced in the 80x50 report, the growth trajectory goal for in-state solar is for capacity to increase to 5.2 GW by 2025, increase to 12.2 GW by 2030, and continue to grow by 1 GW/year until 2050. During the period 2011 through 2021, total solar PV capacity in NJ grew from 0.7 GW to 3.8 GW, an average growth rate of approximately 0.3 GW per year (NJCleanenergy, 2022).

- 2) Growth of offshore wind capacity to 10.7 GW by 2050.² The largest wind turbines currently feasible are reported to be able to generate 13 MW of power each (Reed, 2021). To achieve 10.7 GW of capacity will require over 800 such units to be in place by 2050, meaning that approximately 25 to 30 of these units will need to be installed each year. If smaller capacity turbines are used, proportionately more will be needed.
- 3) The state's existing nuclear generation capacity will need to be maintained through 2050.
- 4) 34.9 TWh of electricity generated by wind and/or solar will need to be imported via the PJM Interconnection by 2050.
- 5) Fossil gas and fossil coal will need to be completely phased out for electricity generation by 2050, and enough generation capacity will be maintained, powered with biogas, biofuels, and/or hydrogen, to provide 10.1 TWh/year of electricity.

It's likely that achieving these goals will be challenging, perhaps extremely so. The section below discusses the feasibility of a key aspect of item #5, the replacement of fossil gas with biogas, which is essentially methane produced from recently produced carbonaceous material. Also discussed are ways that this feasibility could be enhanced.

2. Biomass feedstocks

Biomass is a broad definition for biologically derived renewable materials that can be used to produce heat, electric power, transportation fuels and bio-based intermediaries, as well as products and chemicals. Sustainable biomass, however, can be more narrowly defined and does not include biomass feedstocks that follow food-to-fuel pathways and/or that result in forest conversion to plantations or land clearing for biomass production. Biomass sustainability has been long discussed and is a well debated matter. For instance, the use of first-generation biofuels/bioenergy such as corn ethanol and soybean biodiesel, have raised numerous environmental concerns such as greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions, land use change, eutrophication, loss of carbon sinks and increased carbon release from soils (Guran et al., 2018., Fargione et al., 2008, Hertel et al., 2010, Searchinger et al., 2008). There is also the social concern over the food-to-fuel pathway and diverting food crops to energy generation. Considering the development of new types of sustainable energy crops and utilizing unrecycled fractions of waste coupled with efficient clean energy technologies can help alleviate many of these issues. Additionally, other land use problems associated with traditional energy crops, such as clearing additional land for agriculture, increasing the net carbon-footprint by releasing stored soil carbon and eliminating the carbon sink function of the once-intact ecosystem should be avoided.

i. Energy Crops

a. Short rotation woody crops - Switchgrass, miscanthus, hybrid poplar, willow, etc.

The dedicated energy crops of interest here are grown specifically for their utilization in energy conversion processes in ways that do not displace food production. They provide a source for the production of renewable energy, chemicals, and materials due to their composition of sugars, lipids, proteins, and fibers (Guran et al., 2018).

These crops are often referred to as cellulosic biomass and are further classified into herbaceous and short-rotation woody crops (fuel wood). Short-rotation woody crops are subdivided into softwood and hardwood, each of which has individual benefits, depending on the conversion

² Through executive order Governor Murphy has now committed New Jersey to 11 GW of OSW by 2040.

process, desired products, or applications. Softwoods produce less ash than hardwoods, but they also contain less carbon, have a lower energy density, and have less availability as residues. Herbaceous energy crops are divided into perennials (3–10 year growing cycles) and annuals, with perennials generally being the preferred resource.

In general, energy crops with a larger fraction of fibrous material (lignocellulose) contain the highest calorific value, making it advantageous to maximize the yield of this plant fraction for the production of energy and fuels. Fuel wood produces usable heat for the residential, commercial, and power in the electric utility sector (Gent et al., 2017).

Short rotation woody crops are primarily intended for the production of biomass for energy but could also contribute in the future to an integrated forestry wood industry chain. The fast- growing tree species of the genera *Populus* (poplars) and *Salix* (willows) are the most experimented with as bioenergy candidates. Elemental ash content in bark and wood can be problematic for thermal conversion and can decrease pretreatment efficiencies in liquid fuel conversion. It is assumed that a high bark-to-wood ratio in short-rotation crops like shrub willow (Salix spp.) will necessarily contribute to high elemental ash content, but little data exists on the genetic and environmental contributions to elemental composition in willow (Speight, J.G., 2020).

Switchgrass, *Panicum virgatum*, is a warm season perennial plant native to the tallgrass prairies in the United States. Switchgrass has been identified by the U.S. Department of Energy as a leading energy crop because it tolerates a wide range of environmental conditions and offers high biomass yield, compared to many other perennial grasses and conventional crop plants (USDA Technical Report No.3, 2009).

While the use of switchgrass as an energy crop has been the subject of scientific investigation for the past three decades, the large-scale commercial cultivation as a biomass crop is just emerging in the US. Switchgrass requires little maintenance, no annual planting, and only one harvest per year. Established from seed, it is less costly to plant than miscanthus or willow, but once established, it provides attractive rates of return if a market is available for the harvested crop. Switchgrass biomass can be condensed into fuel pellets for combustion, or it can be used as a feedstock for cellulosic biofuel production. Bioenergy markets for switchgrass are emerging (USDA, 2009).

Miscanthus is a perennial rhizomatous grass with the C4 photosynthetic pathway that is native to East Asia. Its average annual biomass yield reportedly can reach 30 tons per hectare (dry matter) with minimal agricultural inputs. It has remarkable environmental adaptability, able to grow under a wide range of climatic conditions. Giant Miscanthus (*Miscanthus giganteus*) is considered as an energy crop in the US while other Miscanthus types are considered invasive (USDA Fact Sheet, 2011).

In addition to short rotation woody crops, forest residues can serve as feedstock candidates for low carbon energy.

Currently, most suitable conversion technologies for dedicated energy crops and forestry waste are based on thermochemical conversion, in which biomass is degraded at high temperature. These technologies include gasification and pyrolysis. In gasification, biomass is reacted with a gasifying agent, (e.g., air, oxygen, water) at high temperature. Pyrolysis is a thermal process in which biomass is reacted with a limited amount of oxygen under high temperature. Gasification can be used to provide gas called syngas, which is a mixture of carbon monoxide and hydrogen. Syngas can be directly combusted for power generation or can be treated further to produce liquid fuels such as jet fuel. Pyrolysis can be used to decompose biomass to generate oil and biochar. However, the oxygen content of biomass may require further refining of the bio-oil. Pyrolysis can also produce charcoal ("biochar") that is resistant to further degradation and thus represents carbon storage. Biochar is also reported to be beneficial as a soil treatment that enhances plant growth. (Aluiddin, 2010, Ruiz, 2013, Devi 2003, Lehmann, 2007).

ii. Waste Biomass as feedstocks for Bioenergy

a. Food

Food wastes appear to be low hanging fruit that emerging circular carbon systems can utilize as feedstocks to produce low-carbon energy in the form of biopower and biofuels, and end-products including chemical industry intermediates. These approaches can further displace fossil fuels and increase GHG mitigation efficiency overall.

Food waste is defined by NJ's food waste law (NJDEP, 2023). For this discussion, the generalized definitions proposed by the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO, 2022) are used, and are summarized as follows:

• Food loss refers to a decrease in mass (dry matter) or nutritional value (quality) of food that was originally intended for human consumption. These losses are mainly caused by inefficiencies in the food supply chains, such as poor infrastructure and logistics, lack of technology, insufficient skills, knowledge and management capacity of supply chain actors, and lack of access to markets. In addition, natural disasters play a role, for example storms can knock out refrigeration systems, causing spoilage.

• Food waste refers to food appropriate for human consumption being discarded, whether or not it is kept beyond its expiration date. Often food is discarded because it has spoiled but it can be for other reasons such as oversupply or consumer shopping/eating habits.

• Food wastage refers to any food lost by deterioration or waste. Thus, the term "wastage" encompasses both food loss and food waste.

Food waste can be classified into four major groups by source: *residential*: kitchen waste; *institutional*: pre- and post-consumer cafeteria waste from schools, hospitals, and correctional facilities; *commercial*: supermarkets, restaurants, farms and other commercial establishments; and *industrial* waste: food processing industry. Commercial and industrial food waste can also be classified as pre- and post-consumption food waste. Residential and institutional wastes are postconsumer food waste. Mixed food waste sources from post-consumer groups are characterized by high moisture content (60%–90%), high organic content (more than 95% of dry matter), high salt content, and rich nutrition, which are valuable for recycling and valorization. However, postconsumer food waste is much harder to convert to energy due to its mixed composition (Guran, 2018, Hochman, Guran & Gottlieb et al., 2021). Food wastes, based on their physical and chemical properties and end-product interests, can serve as feedstock for a variety of processes, including anaerobic digestion³, transesterification⁴, gasification⁵, pyrolysis⁶ and combustion. If food waste has a high sugar, moisture, or oil content, it can be a useful feedstock for anaerobic digestion or hydrothermal liquefaction. If food waste has a low moisture content, such animal bones or nut shells, thermochemical conversion technologies are suitable to convert it into low-carbon fuels and energy.

b. Agricultural Waste (crop waste and animal waste)

Crop Wastes: Agricultural waste generally refers to crop waste such as the straws of cereal, corn husks and ears. In addition to primary agricultural crop residues there are other types of residues including organic material from excess or unwanted production, animal manures and slurries. Crop wastes can also serve as feedstock for anaerobic digestion, transesterification, gasification, pyrolysis and combustion (Guran 2018, ch 8).

Crop residues can be sub-grouped as follows:

- Grains: Barley, Maize, millet, oats, rice, rye, sorghum, wheat
- Legumes: Beans, peas, nuts, lentils, soybeans
- Oil crops: Linseed, rapeseed, safflower, seed cotton, sesame, sunflower
- Sugar crops: Sugar beet, sugar cane
- Tubers: Potatoes, sweet potatoes
- Vegetable residue
- Orchard residues

Ideally, reutilization of crop residues will be performed sustainably without causing direct and indirect impacts. Research indicates that excessive straw reaping can deplete soil organic matter and thus have adverse impacts on soil, environment and crop yield. Thus, a reasonable removal ratio is needed.

Animal Manure: Animal manure's decomposition is one of the main sources of the greenhouse gases methane and nitrous oxide (Park et al. 2006). Confined animal-feeding operation (CAFO) wastes if not managed properly can create additional environmental pollution (Wang et al. 2014) including exposure to pathogens harmful to livestock, wildlife and humans. Animal manure from small farms is usually spread onto cropland. However, animal manure from large farms and industrial style confinement facilities is often present in such large quantities that it requires further management. New technologies that are technically and environmentally efficient are

³ Anaerobic digestion (AD) is a series of entrained biological processes in which micro-organisms digest plant and/or animal-based material in sealed containers producing biogas.

⁴ Transesterification is the chemical conversion of triglycerides with alcohol into alkyl esters. It is part of the reaction process used to produce biodiesel fuel.

⁵ Gasification is a process that converts carbonaceous materials at high temperatures without combustion, with a controlled amount of oxygen and/or steam, into carbon monoxide, hydrogen, and carbon dioxide.

⁶ Pyrolysis is conversion of carbonaceous materials at high temperatures in a limited oxygen environment. Products typically include charcoal and/or tars.

needed to utilize animal wastes for energy to displace reliance on fossil fuels while improving soil, water, and air quality (Wang et al. 2014).

Based on its physical and chemical properties, animal manure can be utilized via thermochemical and biochemical conversion technologies. If animal manure has a high moisture content the most suitable technology is anaerobic digestion. Generally, swine and dairy waste are suitable for this technology. For animal manure such as equine and poultry manure of low moisture content, thermochemical conversion technologies are more suitable.

c. Residential – yard and municipal waste

Residential biomass waste consists of food waste, cardboard and other cellulose-containing parts of packaging, yard waste (grass clippings, leaves, branches and other biomass debris) and non-recycled wood from construction and demolition activities. These kinds of wastes are generally used for mulch, landfilled or incinerated.

Similar to the above waste reutilization approaches, dry residential waste can be utilized through thermochemical conversion technologies.

3. Biogas production methods currently in use in NJ and elsewhere

Biogas from food waste anaerobic digestion, landfill gas (LFG), and anaerobic digester gas from wastewater treatment facilities (WWTF) is currently being considered as a viable part of the solution to the twin challenges of providing renewable energy and minimizing waste.

Although the terms biogas, LFG, and digester gas sometimes are used interchangeably since their main constituents are CH_4 and CO_2 , they may have other impurities such as water vapor and traces of nitrogen, hydrogen sulfide and ammonia depending on decomposition type, location and feedstock. Problematic contaminants in some cases are volatile organic silicon compounds (VOSCs), primarily siloxanes. If food waste is not contaminated by other waste such as personal care products and cleaning products, VOSCs are not typically observed. All these gases are the result of anaerobic decomposition of complex organic materials either in the landfill cells or in digester vessels. However, in addition to where the digestion occurs, other important factors that contribute to gas composition are the type of feedstock and conditions of the decomposition. All these gases can be used as clean energy sources. If all the impurities and CO_2 content are successfully removed, the remaining methane can be used as Renewable Natural Gas (RNG). Eight of the twelve operating commercial landfills in the New Jersey have installed these energy producing systems to help meet their energy needs and supply electricity to the grid (NJDEP, 2020).

Biogas is also generated at the wastewater treatment facilities and this gas is typically called digester gas. Digester gas is also primarily CH_4 and CO_2 . However, digester gas also contains relatively high amounts of VOSCs because of widespread use of silicon-containing compounds in personal care products and cleaning materials that make their way into wastewater upon their disposal.

i. Deposition of municipal solid waste (MSW) in landfills and collection of landfill gas

Landfill gas (LFG) is a natural byproduct of the decomposition of organic material in landfills. It is composed of approximately 50 percent CH_4 , 50 percent CO_2 along with water vapor and traces of other compounds including siloxanes. Removal of siloxanes and related compounds from LFG and

digester gas is needed before the gas is fed into power generation equipment (Wheless and Pierce, 2004).

Without such removal, when the landfill gas or digester gas is combusted in gas turbines, boilers, microturbines or internal combustion engines to generate power, siloxanes convert into silicon dioxide (SiO₂) and deposit in the various parts of the power generation equipment causing high maintenance costs, prolonged down time, and even serious equipment failure. Deposition on turbine blades, heat exchangers and emission control equipment can result in reduced or total loss of heat transfer efficiency, equipment failure and possible poisoning in catalytic converters requiring expensive repairs and causing service interruptions (Wheless and Gary, 2002; Pierce, 2005; Popat and Deshusses, 2008). The amount of siloxanes varies depending on the source, and concentrations in landfill gas are reported up to 140 mg/m³ (Wheless and Gary, 2002) which is significantly above the 15 mg/m³ limit recommended by most equipment manufacturers (Schweigkofler and Niessner, 2001). Older landfills are reported to have lower siloxane concentrations due to lower historic use of personal care products with polydimethylsiloxane (PDMS) which causes formation of siloxanes (Ajhar et al., 2010).

Evidence of siloxanes in LFG and digester gas at wastewater treatment facilities is observed in the form of white powder in gas turbines' moving parts, as a light coating on various types of heat exchangers, as deposits on combustion surfaces in reciprocating engines, and as a light coating on post-combustion catalysts. Literature suggests that microturbines and fuel cells may not be able tolerate siloxanes. Since these technologies offer performance advantages, economic returns may justify the cost of siloxane removal. Landfills are estimated to be the third largest source of anthropogenic methane emissions in the US and NJ. The environmental impacts of landfills with gas recovery facilities depend on proper management, but regardless of management efficiency (Barlaz et al., 2009), current landfill designs and operational practices are generally not capable of collecting LFG fully. In practice, the moisture content of the waste compound, the temperature inside the reactor, the size of disposed waste, and airflows can affect the degradation process in landfills.

Because of the problem of methane emissions from landfills there is a growing interest in diverting organics, particularly highly putrescible food wastes, out of landfills to utilize them more efficiently for clean energy production and for nutrient recovery. In landfills, organic material residuals/nutrients are not recovered for beneficial reuse primarily due to the cost and difficulty of separating impurities from mixed MSW prior to disposal.

ii. Anaerobic digestion

Anaerobic digestion can be used to produce biogas. The organic material left over, known as digestate, is rich in organic matter and nutrients such as nitrogen, phosphate and potash. Biogas and digestate are both important outputs of anaerobic digestion (AD). Anaerobic digestion of organic waste such as manure food waste, the organic fraction of MSW, and organics at wastewater treatment facilities is a well-established technology.

In New Jersey, at least 37 wastewater treatment facilities utilize anaerobic digesters to process sludge; 11 of these facilities have energy recovery systems generating electricity or heat from the produced digester gas that is fed back into the process helping to defray operational costs. (NJDEP 80x50 report p 96). At other facilities the biogas is flared. The digestate from wastewater

treatment facilities is sometimes not suitable as fertilizer for edible crops because of the high metals and pharmaceuticals contents of residential sludge.

There is growing interest in AD. Some cities and states in the US have started to require the diversion of organics from landfills and their management with AD (EPA, 2021). The food and drink industry is an example of a well-established use of biogas to fuel boilers producing hot water and/or steam. Some examples include Toyama City Eco Town where food waste-based biogas boilers provide energy for Mitsubishi Rayon Toyama Production Centre; Bonduelle canning facility in Nagykoros, Hungary; Elgin Fruit Juices in South Africa and Diageo's Glendullan distillery in Scotland (Jain and Newman, 2018).

Biogas plants generating renewable electricity are present around the world at various scales, including: local food courts in Malaysia using food scraps to generate electricity; Harvest Energy Garden processing food waste from Walt Disney World Resort and other industrial, commercial and institutional sources to generate 3.2 MW of electricity (and 2.2 MW of recoverable heat); City of Chiba, Japan digesting food waste from food manufacturing industries, retailers and households; and Elgin Fruit Juices, South Africa running part of their juicing operations on electricity generated from fruit, vegetable and other food waste.

In Trenton, New Jersey, Trenton Renewables produces electricity and heat from food waste using AD (Trenton Biogas, 2022). Also in the State, the Landis Sewerage Authority in Vineland has a combined heat and power plant (CHP) that burns CH₄ from its treatment process to make electricity and hot water. The facility also operates a liquid food processor waste receiving station that accepts liquid waste from the food industry as well as food grade fats, oil, and grease that enhances the methane production process. The Rahway Valley Sewerage Authority, in Rahway NJ, operates anaerobic digestion units and in a public/private partnership with Waste Management, Inc., it blends and co-digests wastewater sludge with a food waste slurry. (This operation is also known as the Elizabeth WM CORe WM CoRe facility.) Overall, in the U.S. there are more than 150 facilities (standalone AD, wastewater treatment facilities and farm ADs) that utilize AD biogas for power, heat or power and heat generation (USEPA, 2021).

In addition, biogas is utilized by some cities for district heating. Long-term successfully operating projects include the municipality of Este, in the Veneto region of Italy, Hengelo in the Netherlands, and Dannenberg, Germany.

CITIES with Anaerobic Digestion (AD)

Residential Food Waste AD:

Munich (Germany), Milan (Italy), Forbach (France), Madrid (Spain), Vienna (Austria), Upsala (Sweden), Oslo (Norway), Zurich (Switzerland), Wijster (the Netherlands), Hinjewadi, Pune (India), Malur (India)

Commercial Food Waste AD:

Bernau (Germany), Hartberg (Austria), Skrzatusz (Poland), London (UK), Chennai (India), Chiba (Japan)

FOOD PROCESSING & BEVERAGE INDUSTRY

•BREWERIES – Heineken (Nigeria), SABMiller (Uganda) AB InBev (Russia), Diageo (Kenya, Ghana), Beer Thai (Thailand), Khon Kaen Brewery (Thailand), Brakina Brewery (Burkina Faso);

- ABATTOIRS Jan Kempdorp Abattoir (South Africa), Grossfurtner St Martin (Austria);
- FRUIT AND VEGETABLE PROCESSING Bonduelle (Hungary);
- DAIRY PROCESSING Lactalis Retiers (France), Danone (Belgium), Amul Dairy (India); and
- CONFECTIONARY Mars, Veghel (Poland).

Co-digestion (digesting food waste along with wastewater sludge:

In addition to the New Jersey facilities in Vineland and Rahway noted above, there are a number of examples of co-digestion of wastewater sludge and food waste in the U.S. These include the Central Marine Sanitation Agency, San Rafael, California; Sheboygan Regional Wastewater Treatment Facility, Wisconsin; West Lafayette Wastewater Treatment Facility, Indiana; and Janesville Wastewater Treatment facility, Wisconsin. It has also been implemented in South Korea in many plants, including Yongyeon, Ulsan, Hyuncheon Goyang-si, Anrak Busan, Seobyun Daegu and Dongchun Incheon, Riihimaki, and Oulu in Finland, Zirl in Austria and Radeberg in Germany (Jani and Newman, 2018).

Animal manure and some other agricultural wastes are amenable to anaerobic digestion. Over 263 animal manure anaerobic digestion units operate on livestock farms in U.S. (USEPA, 2021). To the SAB's knowledge, there are no such agricultural waste anaerobic digestion units operating in New Jersey. Should conveniently located centralized anaerobic digestion facilities become established in New Jersey, they may create opportunities for small farms.

Food waste is well suited to anaerobic digestion. New Jersey's Food Waste Recycling and Waste-to-Energy Production Act (P.L. 2020, c.24) was signed into law by Governor Murphy on April 14, 2020, and it went into effect on October 14, 2021. It requires facilities that generate a projected volume of 52 tons of food waste or more per year to source separate and recycle their food waste. Consequently commercial, institutional and industrial food waste will be more available as a feedstock to AD facilities in New Jersey for biogas generation. This approach will also create opportunities to create synergies between AD and composting industries since the digestate from food waste AD facilities can serve as a better feedstock for composting. With this approach, food waste can be fully utilized within a circular carbon economy framework. Currently in New Jersey the only standalone food waste anaerobic digester facility is Trenton Biogas, noted above. At least one additional facility, the Linden Renewable Energy Project (LRE, 2022) is under development.

A recent economic modeling study (Dill , 2021) found that the construction and operation of an anaerobic digestion facility to process food waste in Bergen County would be economically attractive. Although their literature review revealed that several other food waste AD facilities in the U.S. had proved to be unprofitable, they found that a facility in Bergen County by taking advantage of all possible revenue streams, NJ incentives for renewable energy, and by savings due to avoidance of relatively high tipping fees for waste in the County, could be profitable. These researchers had access to limited actual data, so they depended on some estimated values and assumptions for input parameters.

Input parameters include the estimates and assumptions that: 1) the facility would become operational in 2029, 2) the collection of food waste would not require a separate system or entail extra costs (the study assumed that weekly solid waste pickups would become biweekly, with food waste pickups in alternate weeks using the same equipment and personnel), 3) 60% of non-regulated and residential food waste generators would voluntarily separate food waste from other waste, 4) Bergen County commercial and industrial facilities and institutions producing >52 tons of food waste per year would generate between 53,168 and 124,572 tons per year of food waste (all of which exceed the 40,400 tons per year calculated for Bergen County facilities using data developed by EPA (NJDEP/BCCCE, 2021), 5) the AD facility would be able to sell electricity it produced at the average NJ retail price instead of the wholesale price, and 6) the AD facility was based on national data, and so may not reflect the likely high cost of land and its availability in Bergen County.

Possible differences between their model's input parameters and potential real-world data notwithstanding, Dill et al. (2021) make the case that an AD facility could be economically successful in NJ. The study points out that two New Jersey policies appear to work at cross-purposes in terms of the quantity of feedstock potentially available for anaerobic digestion. These policies are 1) the requirement for facilities that generate 52 tons/year or more of food waste to source separate this waste and transmit it to a recycling facility and 2) the statewide goal to reduce all food waste generation 50% by 2030.

Regarding the first of these policies, acceptable recycling facilities include those that directly compost food waste. The study did not consider the impact on food waste feedstock of a composting facility that might also be developed in the region. Dill, et al. noted that feedstock could fall short of the designed capacity of a reactor because it is not assured that there will be enforcement and compliance of the new food waste recycling law, and further that residential food waste collection might not prove to be significant. In the event of a feedstock shortfall, the authors stated that a facility might be forced to reach outside of Bergen County for organic matter to be able to run the digester. A point emphasized by the study is that diverting food waste from landfills and processing that waste via dedicated anaerobic digestion facilities is likely to yield greenhouse gas emission benefits because all the methane produced can be captured and used to provide energy rather than partially escaping into the atmosphere as happens with landfills.

Based on a run of EPA's waste reduction model, WARM, using its default input parameters (Aucott, 2022), composting and incineration of food waste, neither of which have significant emissions of methane, yield greenhouse gas emissions benefits similar to AD when compared to landfilling, on the order of 0.5 to 0.6 MTCO₂e per ton of food waste. It should be emphasized that WARM also indicates that source reduction of food waste yields by far the biggest emissions benefit when compared to any waste management method; on the order of 4 MTCO₂e per ton of food waste reduced. This is presumably because WARM incorporates impacts throughout the life cycle of the wastes.

Modeled outcomes are of course dependent on input parameters, which can be highly uncertain. This dependence emphasizes the importance, as discussed in the recommendations section below, of obtaining comprehensive data on AD facilities actually operating in New Jersey.

4. Estimated quantity of biogas feasible to produce and/or access in NJ using current production methods

As discussed above, biogas is currently produced by the anaerobic digestion of wet organic waste such as sewage sludge and food waste. The quantity of such waste available and the portion of the carbon content of such waste that is amenable to conversion to methane are the key predictors of the total amount of biogas feasible to produce with current production methods. Estimates of the quantities of biogas that could be produced upon full implementation of New Jersey's food waste law, with expanded collection from landfills and wastewater treatment plants, with expansion to include the residential wet organic portion of municipal solid waste, and upon further expansion to include out-of-state sources delivered by existing natural gas pipelines are provided below.

i. Upon full implementation of NJ's food waste law

As noted above, NJ's Food Waste Recycling and Waste-to-Energy Production Act went into effect in October 2021. Details of how the law will be implemented, and thus what will constitute "full implementation" remain to be determined. The law specifies that food waste generators must comply with the separation and recycling mandate only if they are located within 25 miles of a recycling facility with sufficient capacity to accept the waste, and only if the cost of transporting and processing the food waste at the recycling facility does not exceed 110 percent of the cost of transporting and disposing of the waste as solid waste. Food waste recycling facilities must be authorized by the NJDEP. They may recycle the food waste by subjecting it to anaerobic digestion, thus producing biogas as well as residual compost. On the other hand, they may process the waste in other ways, such as aerobic composting, which would not produce biogas. The law also allows a food waste generator to comply with the law via an alternative authorized food waste recycling method, which could include on-site composting or digestion and shipping food waste off-site for agricultural use or any other method authorized by NJDEP.

New Jersey has two other food waste laws that are relevant. In 2017 the Food Waste Reduction Act (P.L. 2017, c.136) and the School Food Waste Guidelines legislation (P.L. 2017, c.210) were signed into law. The Food Waste Reduction Act established a goal of reducing food waste by 50%, based on 2017 food waste estimates, by the year 2030 (NJDEP, 2019a). To the extent that this law is effective, it will reduce the amount of food waste generated in the State, and thus could reduce the overall amount of biogas that could be produced from this source.

Clearly, the overall quantity of food waste generated that is susceptible to the requirements of these laws, the number of authorized recycling facilities that exist (and that will come online in the future), and the type of processing done by either the generators themselves or the off-site facilities are all factors that will influence the total amount of biogas that can be produced upon full implementation of the food waste laws. There is uncertainty about the total amount of food waste that is subject to the food waste recycling law. However, a study by USEPA (NJDEP/BCCCE, 2021) produced data that identifies New Jersey facilities that are expected to produce more than 40 tons per year of food waste. These data were sorted to include only those facilities expected to produce 52 or more tons per year. The total generation from these facilities is estimated in the referenced study as 319,076 tons. Approximately 69% of this total is contributed by food products manufacturers and processors.

In the discussion below, it will be assumed that biogas produced from food waste will be cleaned of CO₂ and impurities and will thus be essentially equivalent to natural gas, which in turn is essentially equivalent to methane, CH₄. There is a wide range of estimates available on the amount of methane expected to be generated from a ton of food waste using existing anaerobic digestion technology. An operating New Jersey facility, Trenton Biogas, reports that it produces approximately 58 m³ of methane per ton of received food waste (Trenton Biogas, 2022). A planned facility (LRE, 2022) expects to produce 67 m³ methane per ton. References in the literature, reflecting in part different mixes of carbonaceous materials in differing food waste streams, range from 87.5 m³ per ton to a theoretical upper limit of 376 m³ per ton (EBMUD, 2008; Kuo & Dow, 2017; Guran, 2022). Another food waste recycling facility, the WM CORe facility in Elizabeth, also operates in the state, although its biogas is apparently not used to produce electricity (NJDEP, 2023a). Data from this facility were not used in this analysis but could prove useful to the DEP in the future.

Assuming an approximate mid-range of 100 m³ methane produced per ton, 319,076 tons of food waste, in the unlikely scenario that all generators of 52 tons or more per year delivered all their food waste to anaerobic digestion facilities, could conceivably produce as much as 32 million m³ of methane. If a lower generation potential, e.g. 62.5 m³ methane per ton (the average of Trenton Biogas's reported production and the planned LRE facility's expected production) is assumed, the maximum methane production would be approximately 20 million m³ methane. With this calculation, the total generation potential is thus in the range of 20 to 32 million m³ methane per year. To this estimate can be added the current production of Trenton Biogas and the projected production of the proposed LRE facility, which together are reported to total approximately 40 million m³ per year.

How much electricity could be produced from this biogas, if it were all collected, compressed, and injected into the pipeline system and delivered to New Jersey gas-burning power plants can be estimated with the assumption that it would have the same heating value as natural gas (i.e. essentially pure methane) and that it would be combusted and turned into electricity with the same efficiency as the current average of New Jersey's gas-burning power plants. In 2019, these plants consumed 3.03 trillion Btu (about 8.3 billion m³) of natural gas and produced 40.5 TWh of electricity (USDOE/EIA, 2019; US DOE/EIA, 2021). On this basis, 20 to 32 million m³ could be expected to produce between 0.09 and 0.15 TWh of electricity.

It should be noted that this is a gross quantity, not a net quantity. Upgrading biogas from the anaerobic digestion process requires the removal of CO_2 and trace gases, which takes energy. It is estimated (LRE, 2022; Sun et al., 2015) that upgrading one m³ of biogas requires between 0.2 and 0.3 kWh of electricity. Biogas is approximately 50% carbon dioxide and 50% methane; so it can be assumed that approximately 38 to 64 million m³ biogas would have to be upgraded to produce the 19 to 32 million m³ methane referenced above, which, as also noted above, could be expected to produce between 0.09 and 0.15 TWh of electricity per year. Upgrading this 19 to 32 million m³ would require enough electricity to reduce the net electricity production from this source to the range of 0.08 to 0.14 TWh/year.

To this amount of electricity production can be added the current production of Trenton Biogas and the projected production of the proposed LRE facility, which together are reported to total approximately 0.19 TWh/year,. Adding all these together brings the total electricity that could be produced in New Jersey if all food waste from generators of >52 tons/year were delivered to AD

facilities and if Trenton Biogas continues its current reported production and if the proposed LRE facility is built and produces as projected to between 0.27 and 0.33 TWh per year.

ii. With expanded collection from landfills and wastewater treatment plants

It is technically possible that more gas could be collected from New Jersey's landfills, and that it could be upgraded sufficiently and introduced into the natural gas pipeline system. However, many landfills, especially those that were closed in the past, are small and have steadily declining emissions of gas. Collecting gas from these landfills and upgrading it to pipeline standards would present logistical and economic challenges.

A recent study (Dyer et al., 2021) investigated the feasibility of collecting landfill gas in New Jersey and upgrading it. They identified 7 landfills with a realistic potential of producing what they termed renewable natural gas; they estimated that these landfills could produce a total of 4.89 billion standard cubic feet of this gas per year. This is equivalent to 138 million m³.

Dyer, et al. (2021) also identified wastewater treatment plants that appeared to be capable of producing renewable natural gas. They identified 22 such facilities, from which a total of 1.65 billion standard cubic feet (44.2 million m³) could feasibly be produced.

The National Renewable Energy Laboratory also estimated the amount of methane that could be generated from New Jersey's landfills and wastewater treatment plants. A search of its Biopower Atlas (NREL, 2016) yielded an estimate for NJ landfills of 24 million m³ and for wastewater treatment plants of 127 million m³ methane. While these estimates differ from the estimates of Dyer, et al. (2021), Biopower Atlas's total is not inconsistent with Dyer, et al. (2021)'s estimated total.

The total high-end estimate of the amount of methane that could feasibly be produced by these two source categories is thus approximately 182 million m³. In the unlikely scenario that all this methane was collected from these landfills and wastewater treatment plants, transmitted to the natural gas pipeline infrastructure, and burned by power plants to produce electricity, and using the same electricity production per m³ factor as discussed above, this amount of methane could produce as much as 0.86 gross TWh of electricity, which, after accounting for the energy required to upgrade the biogas to essentially pure methane, might amount to a net of approximately 0.81 TWh per year.

iii. Upon further expansion to include the residential wet organic portion of municipal solid waste

The wet portion of residential solid waste is assumed herein to consist largely of food wastes. Estimates of the amount of such wastes generated in the State vary. Guran (2022) indicated that approximately 105 kg/year of food waste is generated per person. Using NJ's approximate population of 9 million leads to a total generation of 1,042,000 short tons of food waste per year. Another study (Kuo & Dow, 2017) reported that 15.5% of municipal solid waste is food waste. Using a figure of 6 million tons of solid waste generated in the State in a year leads to an estimate of 960,000 short tons of food waste per year. RTS (2022) reported that each person generates 219 pounds of food waste per year. Using a population estimate of 9 million leads to an estimated food waste generation of 985,500 short tons per year. Guran (2022), based on a survey of a sample of New Jersey municipal solid waste, found that 22% of solid waste is food waste. This leads to an estimated generation of 1,320,000 tons/year. Another source (NJDEP, 2019a) estimates a yearly generation of 1,460,000 tons/year.

Using the range of these estimates and an estimated methane generation factor of 100 m³ per ton leads to an estimated methane production of between 9.60×10^7 and 1.46×10^8 m³ of methane per year. Using a lower generation factor of 62.5 m³ per ton (the average of the reported and projected methane generation of food waste recyclers using anaerobic digestion) leads to a range of 6.00×10^7 to 9.13×10^7 m³ per year.

The NREL's Biopower Atlas also provides an estimated total methane production potential from New Jersey's food waste (NREL, 2016) of 46 million m³. An overall estimated gross production range is thus between 46 and 146 million m³ methane per year, which, using the same calculation basis as above, would translate to a net electricity production in the range of 0.21 to 0.65 TWh.

The expansion of biogas production to include all of the residential wet organic portion of municipal solid waste would require separation of this portion from the remainder of the waste and an altered collection system. This process could entail significant energy costs, which would reduce the net electricity production and greenhouse gas reduction benefits. A countering effect, however, as discussed in Section 4i, is that the natural degradation of wet organic waste in landfills eventually leads to methane generation, not all of which is successfully captured by landfill gas scavenging systems. Minimizing landfills' methane generation by separating the wet organic waste, converting it to methane under controlled conditions in dedicated anaerobic digestion facilities, and transmitting to the pipeline system for combustion to produce electricity would have positive greenhouse gas reduction benefits because of methane's high global warming potential relative to carbon dioxide.

iv. Upon further expansion to include out-of-state sources delivered by existing natural gas pipelines

NREL (2013) has also estimated the national potential to produce renewable natural gas, defined as high quality methane scrubbed of impurities to allow it to be transported using the existing natural gas pipeline network. They estimate the methane potential from U.S. landfill material, animal manure, wastewater, and industrial, institutional, and commercial organic waste to be approximately 7.9 million tons per year, which can be converted to 420 billion cubic feet of natural gas equivalent (11.9 billion m³) or 431 trillion BTU.

As noted in Section 2, lignocellulosic biomass contains a relatively large fraction of fibrous material. Such materials are not amenable to the production of biogas via anaerobic digestion with current technology. However, if technological developments facilitate biogas production from such resources and these materials are also included, then NREL (2013) finds that the U.S. renewable natural gas supply could reach 4.2 trillion cubic feet (119 billion m³) per year (4,318 trillion BTU).

New Jersey's total natural gas consumption in 2019 was 761 billion cubic feet (781 trillion BTU), of which approximately 294 billion cubic feet (8.3 billion m³ or 303 trillion BTU) was consumed by the electricity sector (EIA, 2022). If New Jersey was the only U.S. state mandating 100% renewable natural gas, then it might be able to supply 55% of its needs by consuming all of the potential U.S. renewable natural gas production from non-lignocellulosic sources. Or, if applied only to New Jersey's natural gas consumption for generating electricity, New Jersey's electricity sector would need to consume 70% of total potential U.S. non-lignocellulosic production, or 7% of total potential

U.S. production including lignocellulosic sources. In short, unless lignocellulosic feedstocks and the capacity to convert a significant portion of these wastes to biogas become widely available, New Jersey's electricity sector is unlikely to be able to satisfy its current natural gas needs with out-of-state renewable natural gas.

It should be noted however, that the 80x50 Report and Energy Master Plan estimate that only enough renewable natural gas will be needed in 2050 to produce 10.1 TWh of electricity. With the current generation efficiency calculation, as discussed above, this would require about 2.15 billion m³ of natural gas. Thus, if New Jersey could import 2% of the total production estimated to be possible from wastes including lignocellulose sources, the State might be able to meet the 10.1 TWh/year goal.

It should also be noted that converting lignocellulose wastes to biogas, while being explored extensively, has not been proved at large scale for biomass resources (NREL, 2013). Considering only the currently feasible anaerobic digestion process, and its potential to produce methane from U.S. landfill material, animal manure, wastewater, and industrial, institutional, and commercial organic waste, the State would have to import 20% of the renewable natural gas estimated to be possible to generate nationally these sources.

For New Jersey to import this high a percentage of nationally produced renewable natural gas that would be coming from what would likely be many thousands of small sources, some of which would have their own uses for the gas, would require changes to the current gas collection and distribution system for which there is no precedent and that may well be infeasible.

On the other hand, should the State find a way to fund or partially fund the development of biogas production technology at some of the larger sources of manure and other wastes (e.g. industrial-scale confined animal operations in relatively nearby states) it might be able to claim some greenhouse gas reduction benefits.

5. Methods of increasing biogas production

i. Increasing available feedstock suitable for production with current technology

The challenge of increasing available feedstock beyond food waste for biogas production in the state requires a look at different types of feedstocks. Common feedstocks that can be considered are manure, other wastes such as agricultural and forest residues, park and garden waste, sewage sludge, and aquatic plant-based feedstocks. With increased biogas production required to meet the State's decarbonization priorities, increased feedstock availability might best be acquired through a generic statewide perspective rather than a case-specific perspective (e.g., considering a specific biogas plant in New Jersey). The primary aim would be to target decision makers, biogas producers, and other biogas stakeholders.

a. Imports of wastes and manure

The State of New Jersey ranks 30th in the nation for methane production potential from biogas. There is potential for more than 120 new projects to be developed based on the estimated amount of available organic material sources (American Biogas Council, 2022). The current availability of feedstock for biogas production in the state limits the amount that can be produced to meet decarbonization goals (see Section 4 for detailed analyses). Efforts must be channeled to increase in-state collection of feedstocks as well as imports from viable neighboring states to facilitate increased biogas production pathways through biodigesters.

Rather than focusing on more theoretical potentials, with biogas yield being the primary criterion for importing a certain feedstock, one can look more thoroughly from a producer profitability perspective. This is important as biogas feedstocks have higher volume and lower energy content as compared to conventional fuels; thus, distance from conversion plants such as digesters can be a key factor determining economic viability of imports. For example, livestock manure tends to be a relatively low-energy feedstock, as this material has predigested in the gastrointestinal tracts of the animals. However, manure is easily used in anaerobic digestion and can be made available in large quantities. A 1,000-pound dairy cow provides an average of 80 pounds of manure daily, which is typically stored in holding tanks before being applied to fields. In 2015, livestock manure and associated management contributed about 10% of all methane emissions in the country, and only 3% of livestock waste was recycled by AD (USEPA, 2022a). Based on the 2012 Agriculture Census, more than three-fourths of the manure produced by confined livestock is recoverable and may be collected and utilized (Gollehon et al., 2016). This provides an opportunity for the State of New Jersey to utilize manure collected not just within the state, but from a more agrarian neighboring state like Pennsylvania for biogas production.

This is applicable for other wastes that can be used for biogas, whereby distance from the conversion facility and the extent of conversion efficiency is important for the techno-economic feasibility of biogas. However, the management and stabilization of the biodegradable fraction of those wastes must be viable. The technical conditions of the AD plant and the joint use of different types of feedstocks and manure influence the stability and performance of biogas production from an operational standpoint (Zheng et al., 2015; Tsapekos et al., 2017). Besides yields of biogas feedstocks, there is variation in effort and cost associated with different volumes of feedstock as well. Rather than increased cost associated with maximum in-state waste collection, feedstock imports offer the possibility of maintaining supply chain continuity, stabilizing loading rates of biogas digesters, and helping production facilities operate closer to permitted capacity.

b. Changes in amount of waste exported

New Jersey, the most densely populated state in the nation, generates considerable waste that could be used for biogas production. A 2015 study conducted by Rutgers New Jersey Agricultural Experiment Station assessed the biomass energy potential in New Jersey and found that biomass in the state is primarily concentrated in the counties of central and northeastern New Jersey (Guran and Specca, 2015). Bergen County had the highest total tons/year generation capacity in the state. Biomass availability is spread across the state in central and southern parts and transporting it to a bioenergy producing unit was found to be an important factor economically. However, a significant portion of the waste generated in the state is exported. For example, nearly 18.22% of the solid waste produced in the New Jersey from 1985-2018 was disposed outside the state. Reducing the waste export and utilizing it locally to replace conventional fuels is a pragmatic approach to help meet decarbonization goals.

Increased waste utilization would help expand the presence of in-state biodigesters and encourage the construction of new ones. The continuous flow of organic material in significant quantities requires a structured system to collect industrial quantities of waste (IEA, 2020). The biogas output could be linked to a captive power or cogeneration plant involving additional investments to meet

state priorities. Biogas plants with assured feedstock supply can offer higher levels of efficiency and automation.

c. Increased source separation and collection of food waste in NJ

As noted above, New Jersey's food waste law went into effect in October 2021. This law requires large food waste generators in New Jersey located within 25 road miles of a NJDEP authorized food waste recycling facility to source- separate food waste from their general waste stream and ensure the food waste is recycled in one of three ways: (1) sending the food waste to NJDEP approved recycling centers, (2) managing the food waste on-site where it is generated, or (3) sending the food waste offsite for use in agriculture. However, source segregation and collection of food waste is still a challenge. A concerted effort geared towards small waste generators including households is required.

The process of separation of food waste at its generation source can be an efficient way to reduce unnecessary food purchase and ultimately lowering associated greenhouse gas emissions (Girotto et al., 2015). Source-segregated food waste can be used as feedstock for AD (Salemdeeb et al., 2018).

Food waste occurs both at the retail and final consumption stages, and its generation is related to both retailers' and consumers' behaviors (Jamal et al., 2019; Ando and Gosselin, 2005). Household food waste generation is influenced primarily by socio-demographic characteristics, consumption behavior, and food patterns of the household (Glanz and Schneider, 2009). Rousta et al. (2015) found that convenience in sorting habits, storage space at home, availability of sorting facilities, access to a curbside collection system, and distance to collection points are important influential factors that can increase the food waste collection and source separation. They also found that information stickers regarding food waste sorting along with nearby proximity of drop-off points reduced the miss-sorted fraction by more than 70%. Parizeau et al. (2015) concluded that convenience was a major issue when asking families to implement source segregation.

d. Increased use of anaerobic digestion at wastewater treatment plants

As also discussed above, AD is a well-established method of waste treatment that has been shown to effectively treat and reduce the volume of sewage sludge at wastewater treatment plants (WWTPs), particularly in plants with limited space and strict odor regulations. Implementing AD where it is not currently used has benefits. According to Ranieri et al. (2021), sewage facilities with AD systems save more than 50% of total energy consumption (1.0 kWh m-3) when compared to companies with only aerobic systems (0.4 kWh m-3). AD technology can reduce the amount of sewage sludge and the content of pathogenic microorganisms contained in it, hence decreasing the environmental hazards associated with this waste. At the same time, this process allows sludge to be bio-converted to methane, which can be collected and used as biogas to generate electricity and heat, or as a transportation fuel known as biomethane (Amin et al., 2021). AD also has the greatest practical potential for apprehending the embedded energy content of wastewater. AD digestate can be utilized with artificial wetlands when there are standards limiting waste from the plant (Borges et al., 2016; Butterworth et al., 2016). AD treats approximately 48% of total wastewater flow in the United States (Qi et al., 2013). The majority of the organic input from wastewater is anaerobically digested in WWTPs to generate biogas (Vutai et al., 2016).

The use of AD for WWTP has traditionally been driven by the plant treatment needs rather than the economics of gas production or energy generation (Hale, 2018). Furthermore, due to low

degradability of dry solids, most of the WWTP digesters tend to operate at low loading rates, leading to poor biogas yields (Maragkaki et al., 2017). With a potential for widespread implementation of WWTP facilities using AD in the State, favorable support programs can help motivate facilities that are not using AD to change their sludge digestion practices.

e. Aquatic plants

Algae: Algae encompass a broad spectrum of organisms classified into two main categories: microalgae (microscopic photosynthetic eukaryotic organisms and cyanobacteria) and macroalgae (seaweed). While microalgae are phytoplankton found in both freshwater and marine systems, seaweeds are marine organisms.

Different strains of algae vary for combinations of chlorophyll molecules. Algae comprise proteins, carbohydrates, fats, and nucleic acids, yet the proportions vary across the various types of algae. There are numerous macro and microalgae (Jong et al., 2012; Golden et al., 2015), each differing in their chemical composition and, therefore, the biobased chemicals that they can produce. Accordingly, the literature reports a wide range of growth rates for macroalgae (Palatnik & Zilberman, 2017). For example, Cai et al.'s (2013) review showed that the growth rate of algae varies between 0.2 to 10.86% per day for red seaweed while reaching 15% of average daily growth for green seaweed. This uncertainty in feedstock yield has a significant impact on the cost-effectiveness of the technology. In addition, algae has much higher solar energy conversion efficiency than most terrestrial crop species: 3% vs. 1% respectively (Packer, 2009).

Microalgae can fix CO_2 from three different sources: atmosphere, discharge gases, and soluble carbonates (Wang et al., 2008). Under natural growth conditions, microalgae assimilate CO₂ from the air and can tolerate and utilize substantially higher levels of CO₂--up to 150,000 parts per million by volume (ppmv), see Brown (1996). As a result, microalgae could sequester CO₂ emitted from power stations or other industrial sources, significantly reducing overall greenhouse gases emissions (Nigam & Singh, 2011). Similarly, the use of seaweed aquaculture beds in potential CO₂ mitigation efforts has been already proposed with commercial seaweed production in China, India, Indonesia, Japan, Malaysia, Philippines, Republic of Korea (Chung et al., 2013), Thailand, and Vietnam, and more recently in Australia and New Zealand (Golberg et al., 2020a; Kelly et al., 2020). Algae can act as a novel form of carbon capture and storage (Economist, 2021). The market for carbon offsets led other start-up companies to implement their technologies in pilot and commercial settings, with some targeting the transition of the stored carbon from the ocean's surface to the deep seas (e.g., Running Tide: https://www.shopify.com/climate/sustainabilityfund/partners#ocean). However, the supply chains of these industries are yet to mature, and many hurdles exist for the industry to become a mature industry that helps reduce carbon footprints (albeit a different challenge, recall the hurdles faced by the efforts and needs of using algae to replace a barrel of oil (https://www.greentechmedia.com/articles/read/lessons-from-the-greatalgae-biofuel-bubble)).

A large body of literature shows the high potential of microalgal biorefinery to extract biogas, liquid and gaseous transportation fuel, kerosene, ethanol, aviation fuel, biohydrogen, biodiesel, bioethanol, and bio-oil (Sharma et al., 2011; Gallagher, 2011; Levitan et al., 2014). Others investigated various microalgae-produced gases such as biogas, biohydrogen, and syngas (Demirbas, 2010; Nigam & Singh, 2011). USDOE identified microalgae to have the potential to synthesize 100 times more oil per acre of land than any other plant, and they are even better than soybeans (US DOE, 2016). Several firms have been working to establish the economic feasibility of microalgae-based biofuels.

Even though agricultural production uncertainties are inherent, aquafarmers growing macroalgae face significant production uncertainty. Feedstock growth depends on saturation kinetics by light intensity, ambient dissolved inorganic nutrient concentration, and temperature (Buschmann et al., 2004). Cultivation uncertainty is exacerbated by stochastic weather seasonal variability between regions, within years and between years. Studies point at biomass productivity as the primary constraint against being competitive with other energy and protein-producing technologies (Seghetta et al., 2016). Environmental factors negatively affecting the performance of seaweed farming include grazing by fish or other organisms and rising sea temperatures, which could slow seaweed growth (Hurtado 2013). In addition, the type of cultivation system (Golberg et al., 2020b) and wild harvesting technologies (Mac Monagail et al., 2017) also significantly impact the yield.

Duckweed: Aquatic monocots in the *Lemnaceae* family, commonly called duckweeds, are plants endemic to most parts of the world that could fit all these criteria (Landolt, 1986). Duckweed, like algae, is a highly productive and nutritious aquatic plant, requiring low water input and does not compete for arable land. The duckweed abbreviated structure and tendency to float allows for rapid, low energy input collection with minimal carryover water. The low lignin levels (< 5%; [Blazey & McClure, 1968]), together with a high protein content (up to 40% dry weight) in some strains and a large surface area to body mass ratio, makes duckweed easy to collect and use.

The industry uses duckweed for what it contains, including starch, protein, fat, mineral, vitamin, and phytosterol content, as well as amino acid and fatty acid spectrum (Hillman, 1976; Appenroth et al., 2017 & 2018). Currently, end-users consume duckweed because of its nutritional value (Bhanthumnavin & McGarry, 1971), for use in spices, food additives, feed, or bioplastics (Zeller et al., 2013).

In addition, studies showed duckweed can be used in fuel production (Sun et al., 2007). The renewed interest in bioenergy during the 21st century did not skip duckweed. Duckweeds, like algae, are viewed as a potential feedstock for bioenergy production (Cheng & Stomp, 2009). Although the plant is not rich in starch, it is possible to enhance the duckweed starch accumulation (Cui & Cheng, 2015; Liu et al., 2018; Guo et al., 2020; Shao et al., 2020; Xu et al., 2018). Duckweed biomass can also produce biogas via anaerobic digestion (Ren et al., 2018), significantly enhancing duckweed's total energy output (Calicioglu & Brennan, 2018; Kaur et al., 2019).

Processing technologies:

Algal biomass intended for beneficial or commercial purposes is grown in open raceway ponds, closed systems like photobioreactors and fermenters, harvested from seaweed farms, or obtained from natural standing stocks and potentially, with careful controls, from harmful algal blooms.

Anaerobic digestion, fermentation, transesterification, liquefaction, and pyrolysis can convert algal biomass into proteins and sugars, resulting in food, chemicals, and biofuels (Torres et al., 2019). An example is Zamalloa et al. (2011), who propose the preconcentration of algae to decrease the cost and energy required for harvesting and using it in a high-rate anaerobic digester to produce biogas. Zamalloa et al. (2011) offered a comprehensive technological and economic assessment that is then applied to estimate the cost of energy production using microalgae as feedstock. An alternative is

hydrogen production which can efficiently use photolysis of water by algae. Biohydrogen production is an alternative to natural gas since many bacteria can produce hydrogen through fermentation with many different organic feedstocks. However, the lack of standardization for hydrogen production and uncertainty in yields makes it challenging to commercialize hydrogen production this way.

Numerous studies focus on evaluating algal production process's future costs that are currently primarily available on a small (lab) scale (Korzen et al., 2015; Seghetta et al., 2016). Developing a new biorefinery, its design, and its construction require significant investments (Stichnothe et al., 2016). Moreover, introducing and perfecting innovations is a process whose trajectory is difficult to assess, and the economic conditions that face a technology vary over time. Learning takes time, and the dynamics of knowledge accumulation affect the introduction of innovations, their refinement, and commercialization. Timing also affects the decision regarding the capacity of creation and the extent of reliance on external sources.

Price variations yield uncertainties to the aquafarmer, to the feedstock produced, and to potential alternative outputs (backstop technologies). To this end, a seaweed industry that contains many small-scale entrepreneurs is prone to boom-bust cycles. An example is the range of prices and annual growth rates for one macroalgae species – *Kappaphycus*. During 1991-2016, when strong demand for dry seaweeds drove up the price, seaweed farmers increased their planting efforts and harvested immature crops. However, seaweed farmers reduced production when the price was low, which created sourcing difficulties for the biorefineries. On the other hand, biorefineries declined the supply when algae prices rose and substituted with cheaper alternatives. As a result, the feedstock supply often exceeded demand and led to the collapse of price (McHugh, 2006). The industry is in its infancy, the paths to maturity are challenging, and expectations should be tuned to reality (https://www.greentechmedia.com/articles/read/lessons-from-the-great-algae-biofuel-bubble).

ii. Technical developments making biogas production feasible from additional biomass

Green technologies for biofuel production are developing, but the productivity and yield of these technologies is minimal. In recent years, a variety of pretreatment techniques have been cultivated and successfully used to enhance the techniques to improve the digestibility, biogas yield, and volume productivity of various microalgae biomass. Mechanical (e.g., shaking, ultrasound, microwave, and sonication), thermal (e.g., hydrothermal and steam explosion), chemical (e.g., acid and alkali), biological (e.g., bacterial and enzymatic), and combined pretreatment (e.g., thermochemical) methods are the most commonly classified as pretreatment methods. Mechanical pretreatment modifies the structure of microalgal biomass by destroying the cell wall through mechanical force. Mechanical pretreatments have less species-dependent actions on biomass than other pretreatment methods, but they require more energy (Lee et al., 2012). Thermal pretreatment of microalgae biomass is usually performed by exposure to heat of 50-270°C. This causes structural changes and solubilization of biomass (Carrère et al., 2010). Acids or alkali have been used in the chemical pretreatment of microalgae biomass and have proven to be particularly effective in combination with thermal pretreatment (Mendez et al., 2013). Biological pretreatment is also simple to use and has low capital investment requirements (Mshandete et al., 2008)

Stokes et al. (2015) investigated the ability of ruminal microbial communities to hydrolyze residual microalgae biomass as ruminant feedstuffs. The study found that ruminal microorganisms digested

the extracted lipid microalgae very well. This demonstrates their ability to break down the cell walls of microalgae and their potential as pretreatment methods for biofuel generation. Electro-fermentation (EF) is a novel technology that boosts biogas generation by incorporating electrodes into the microbial fermentation process (Liu et al., 2019). EF improves the stability of AD as well as the production of methane. Electrode placement and voltage application enhance the metabolic rate and electronic kinetics of bioproducts in increasing biogas production (Sravan et al., 2018). Sravan et al. (2018) found that EF succeeded in increasing the stability of the system, demonstrating the potential for producing methane from food waste. According to the findings, electrical stimulation of biocatalysts advanced the transformation of food waste to a variety of high-value end products, including biogas.

Joshi et al. (2019) presented a new approach using ultrasound-induced cavitation for feedstock material pretreatment with the aim of enhancing the AD process for biogas production. Their findings illustrated the effective use of ultrasounds in the pretreatment of feedstock and subsequent AD process, resulting in a much higher yield of biogas in a shorter period of time.

Extrusion pretreatment exposes feedstock to heat, compression, and shear force, resulting in physical destruction and chemical modification of the feedstock as it passes through the extruder. Novarino and Zanetti (2012) determined that when the organic fraction of municipal solid waste was pretreated using an extrusion method, an enhanced biogas yield of 800 L/kg with a methane content of approximately 60% was obtained.

Anaerobic co-digestion (AcoD) can be an alternative option for addressing the shortcomings of single substrate digestion systems in terms of substrate characteristics and system optimization. Food and animal waste are both appealing substrates for co-digestion. Aside from increasing methane and biogas production, AcoD balances the biodegradation process and nutrients, while also increasing the synergetic effect of microorganisms (Siddique and Wahid, 2018, Zamanzadeh et al., 2017). Food waste from various sources, namely the kitchen (Ma et al., 2011) and leachate from fertilizer-producing centers (Lee et al., 2009), can also be utilized in this process to generate productive yield of biogas. High-solid anaerobic digestion (HSAD) of sewage sludge can additionally be explored as an alternative to AD as it can reduce treatment volumes, transportation costs, and energy consumption for heating and can increase the fertilizing potential of sewage sludge (Di Capua et al., 2020). By centralizing sludge treatment, HSAD represents an opportunity to improve the energy balance of sewage sludge valorization compared to conventional AD.

Technical developments can be directed towards ameliorating inconsistencies in the quality or quantity of biogas systems or in the safety and quality of solid and liquid end products from digesters. The state currently lacks adequate environmental, technical, and economic performance data related to biogas-system production of energy, co-products, GHG and other emissions, grid connection and cost of upgrading to methane, water quality and other societal benefits. Consolidation of this data could help market analysis and associated investments.

iii. Enhancing anaerobic digester efficiency and function

The performance of an anaerobic digestion system is primarily evaluated based on the efficiency of substrate stabilization (or treatment) and methane production (or energy output). The substrate stabilization efficiency is how we accomplish treatment of the organic matter. The higher the methane production, the more we generate usable energy. Food wastes with high moisture content,

such as green leafy vegetable or whey, may have methane yields of up to 10 times lower than those observed for high-solid content food wastes, such as grains, cereals, fats, and used oils. Biogas, methane yields, and the organic matter removal efficiency are significantly affected by the OLR (Organic Loading Rate). In general, studies show that as the OLR increases (or the HRT (Hydraulic Retention Time) decreases), the biogas/biomethane production increases until inhibition ensues due to substrate overloading. Poor process stability leading to low system performance is still frequently observed in full-scale plants worldwide. Many of these problems occur because of inadequate operational management or process control. Stand-alone food waste AD is more susceptible to instability than, for example, manure-based anaerobic digesters (Labatut & Pronto, 2018).

In the United States, most anaerobic digesters treat food waste in conjunction with other substrates, mainly in farm-based operations. In this practice, known as anaerobic co-digestion (ACOD), food wastes are co-digested with animal manures as a primary substrate in terms of proportional influent mass. Co-digesting recalcitrant manure with easily degradable food wastes in farm-based digesters can improve the economic viability of the farm operation: first, by increasing biomethane yields, that is converted to electricity that can be used for facility operations and sold to the utility company, and second, by receiving additional income in the form of tipping fees for the imported food waste (Labatut & Pronto, 2018). In addition, co-digesting food waste with an appropriate primary substrate may be necessary to enhance process stability and performance of organic matter biodegradation, leading to an increase in the plant's energy output.

When reviewing the upgrading of biogas to biomethane (RNG), Zhao et al. (2010) focus on existing technical solutions for scrubbing CO₂ and H₂S. First, Zhao et al. evaluated the existing biogas purification technologies, including water and polyethylene glycol scrubbing, chemical absorption, pressure swing adsorption, membrane, bio-filter, and cryogenic separation. Then, they introduce the testing technology called absorption tower technology and the preliminary trials of sodium hydroxide and diethanolamine systems. From the additional revenue generated, biogas purification technologies can improve the economic feasibility of anaerobic digestion with relatively low electricity prices because of cheap hydroelectric power.

Hublin et al. (2012) investigated the enhancement of biogas production from co-digestion of whey and cow manure in a series of batch experiments. They aim to optimize the anaerobic co-digestion process by performing different pH measurements, whey and cow manure ratios, and different experiment days. The result indicates that the biogas production (6.6 %), methane content (79.4%) in a biogas mixture, and removal efficiencies for total solids (16%) are achieved at optimum process conditions under the temperature of 55° C, 10% v/v of whey, and 5 NaHCO₃. Furthermore, the paper shows that whey is efficiently degraded to biogas in a one-stage batch process when codigested with cow manure. However, separating the operations into a two-stage process is preferable.

Using survey data, Cowley and Brorsen (2018) estimate methane production and cost functions for anaerobic digesters for US dairy and swine operations. They consider variables including farm size, digester inputs, digester design parameters, and construction materials affecting the productivity and profitability of an anaerobic digester. They find that economies of scope are evident for plug flow and complete mix anaerobic digesters that are more economically feasible on dairy farms than swine farms. Economic feasibility can be reached by marketing co-products such as electricity and animal bedding on dairy farms. At the same time, government support is needed to achieve positive

net present values for swine farms. To this end, Astill et al. (2016) examined the economic feasibility of a set of dairy waste management systems composed of two groups mitigating air and water pollution, including an AD system with animal waste input, and compressed natural gas or combined heat and power output and a filtration system with fiber separation, nutrient separation, and water recovery. Their work concludes that scenarios using co-digestion can contribute to a nutrient application without nutrient separation technology. Economic feasibility is assessed by calculating the net present value (NPV), where NPV is optimized for AD with compressed natural gas scenarios. Estimated NPV for AD with compressed natural gas and environmental credits is \$1.8 million and \$39.7 million for dairies with 1600 and 15,000 wet cow equivalents (with an IRR of 9% and 27%, respectively). The addition of co-digestion contributes \$4.8 million and \$47.3 million for such firm sizes.

Caposciutti et al. (2020) analyze an anaerobic digestion plant's mass and energy fluxes as a function of the biogas percentage sent to the upgrading system with the amount of biogas production in a numerical model. While using different scenarios of the bio-methane output, the digesters' mass and energy balance, cogeneration unit, upgrading system, and auxiliary boiler are estimated. The analysis suggests that the plant's energy balance depends on bio-methane production, and the excess of the bio-methane output reduces the plant dependence on external energy sources. Therefore, the optimal level of the bio-methane output minimizes carbon dioxide emissions with higher biomethane subsidies amplifying this effect.

Molino et al. (2013) show the feasibility of integrating an anaerobic digestion plant with a polymeric membrane purification system for conditioned biomethane production. The whole process is split into three stages: hydrolysis or liquefaction, organic acids transformation by bacteria, and biomethane generation. The simulation results indicate that the biomethane produced by cascade configuration has the Wobbe index (i.e., the heating value (known as calorific value) of gases used as fuels) within the range of 46-51; thus, it is possible to apply it in the natural gas gird. Purification for high quality bio-methane is necessary to remove water, sulfur compounds, halogenated organic molecules, carbon dioxide, oxygen, and metals. Economic feasibility is also raised in European standards.

6. Actions needed for biogas technically feasible to produce in NJ with current technology to be introduced to the existing natural gas pipeline system, cost estimates and related aspects of such introduction

NJ has three options to utilize biogas (Hochman et al., 2022):

- A. Combusting the biogas:
- In boilers to generate heat.
- In internal or external combustion engines to produce electricity.
- In combined heat and power (CHP) plants to produce both heat and electricity; and

- Using tri-generation systems that provide cooling via absorption chillers in addition to heat and electricity

B. Upgrading the biogas to methane (RNG):

- Injecting the RNG into the pipeline system and using in place of natural gas in industrial, commercial, and domestic applications; and

- Once biogas is upgraded and its methane is separated from carbon dioxide, using the carbon dioxide for commercial use, for example as a plant growth enhancer in greenhouses.

- Using compressed RNG in place of compressed natural gas (CNG) to power vehicles.
- C. Processing upgraded biogas into higher-value products such as bioplastics or bio-chemicals.

The generated biogas can either be used directly for power generation after removing the impurities (i.e., moisture, H₂S, ammonia) or upgraded to pipeline quality gas (RNG). NJ can achieve biogas upgrading through available state-of-the-art technologies to methane-rich, pipeline-quality RNG.

Abatzoglou and Boivin (2009) study the scientific and technical purification process of biogas produced from fermentation and combustion. Two purification methods are reviewed, including physicochemical phenomena and biological processes. Reviews of physicochemical and biological biogas purification methods and techniques are used to remove sulfur-containing contaminants such as H₂S. Physicochemical methods with chemical adsorption and absorption processes are economically feasible in industry, while biological methods are intensively needed. They point out that the eventual success of a newly proposed technique comes from a combination of better Sulfur-capture efficiency, low media, and operating costs, energy prices, and socio-economic policies.

Upgrading biogas to pipeline quality incurs costs. Sun, et al. (2015) state that the energy required to upgrade one normal m³ biogas is 0.2 to 0.3 kWh. The description of the proposed Linden Renewable Energy (LRE) project (RNG Energy, 2023), which anticipates receiving food waste from NYC as well as NJ, states that their anaerobic digestion process would require 3.2 MW of energy, which will be provided by solid oxide fuel cells. This electricity use presumably includes the electricity used for the upgrading process. Data provided in the description of this project appears approximately consistent with the Bauer et al. energy use estimate. Assuming that the LRE facility would use 3.2 MW on a continuous basis it would consume 28 GWh/year (0.028 TWh) of electricity while producing 3300 dekatherms/day of RNG (about 34 million m³/year). This amount of RNG, assuming it is essentially pure methane, using the calculation approach discussed in section 4, would be sufficient to produce about 0.16 TWh of electricity, so the net production would be in the range of 0.13 TWh/year. (This figure does not include estimation of the energy cost in electricity or GHG emissions from the collection and transportation of the processed waste.)

The need to upgrade biogas and otherwise use energy in its production process is one reason for the estimated high cost of renewable natural gas compared to fossil natural gas. A summary of a recent report (NYSERDA, 2022) states that the estimated average costs for RNG from various feedstocks are \$11.29 per million Btu (MMBtu) for RNG from landfills, \$23.86/MMBtu from food waste, \$27.68/MMBtu from wastewater treatment plants, \$34.56/MMBtu from animal manure, and \$25.67/MMBtu for RNG produced via thermal gasification from MSW, forestry residues, energy crops, and agricultural residues. These figures can be compared to the approximate wholesale cost of fossil gas (City gate price of about \$5/MMBtu in January, 2022) (US DOE/EIA, 2022).

The overall costs of producing electricity via biogas have been estimated as well. The IEA (IEA, 2022) states that the levelized cost of generating electricity from biogas varies depending on the

feedstocks used and the capacity of the conversion plant, and can range from \$50 per megawatthour (MWh) to \$190/MWh. This makes biogas costlier than some of the variable renewable energy sources such as solar, which (excluding the cost of electricity storage) can be as low as \$28/MWh under some conditions, or wind, which (excluding storage) can be as low as \$26/MWh (Lazard, 2021). However, as discussed above, biogas has significant potential in terms of meeting clean energy goals set by policymakers, as it can use the existing natural gas infrastructure and provide the system the same benefits of natural gas such as storage, flexibility, and high-temperature heat without the associated net carbon emissions.

Blanton et al. (2021) assessed the role that natural gas infrastructure could play in reaching netzero targets and bridging emerging energy technologies such as biogas and biofuels in the country. They suggest adjusting existing infrastructure to minimize the costs and accelerate the speed of the clean energy transition. They also emphasize that retrofitting and improving the existing pipeline system can facilitate storage and delivery of cleaner fuels and gases while lowering the overall cost of the transition and ensuring reliability across the energy system. Phadke et al. (2020a) found that 90% of the existing clean grid in the country can be dependable without new coal or natural gas fuel plants. In another report, the authors explored a number of options for eliminating the remaining 10% of emissions from the power sector, including retrofitting existing natural gas plants and hydrogen technologies (Phadke et al., 2020b).

McKinsey & Company (2022) suggests that a decarbonization pathway based only on electrification, renewables, and storage, without clean fuels or carbon sequestration, results in a net higher societal cost. They also highlight that gas infrastructure can be partially repurposed to deliver clean fuels, while gas utilities could utilize decarbonization opportunities to repurpose some assets, invest in new ones, and work with electric utilities, policy makers, commercial and industrial customers, investors, and other stakeholders towards a cleaner future. However, they caution that investments in a clean fuel infrastructure require a long time-horizon (potentially several decades) and should be made early enough to accelerate the market transition. The aforementioned works highlight the need for the State of New Jersey to move towards a clean fuel future and work with the utilities and other stakeholders towards a pathway where clean fuel infrastructure should enable increasingly low-carbon molecules to be transported across the grid.

Detailed and current data about the amount of available organic waste is critical with given its varied composition and seasonal variability. In addition, the properties of the organic feedstock directly influence the performance and outputs of the system. Therefore, feedstock assessment and feedstock preparation are essential for achieving steady-state operating conditions. To this end, there are significant economies of scale in feedstock preparation. For example, the capital costs for preparation fall from around \$29,100/tons/day with AD systems using 90 tons a day to \$8,700/tons/day with a plant that employs 800 tons a day (Ghose & Franchetti, 2018).

The efficiency of the waste treatment and the energy output determines the performance of an AD system. For example, food wastes with high moisture content (i.e., low VS, TS), such as salads or whey, have a much lower yield than high-solid content food wastes, such as grains or cereals. Besides, in the United States, most AD systems treat food waste in conjunction with other substrates, mainly in farm-based operations, where food wastes are co-digested with animal manures (Labatut & Pronto, 2018). Co-digesting enhances process stability and performance of the organic matter biodegradation. In addition, co-digesting recalcitrant manure with easily degradable food wastes improves the economic viability of the farm operation.

The supply chain and technology choice also impact its effect on emissions (Hermanowicz et al., 2011; Evangelisti et al., 2014). To this end, Vandermeersch et al. (2014) analyze the environmental performance of two food waste valorization⁷ scenarios from a retail sector company in Belgium. Vandermeersch et al. (2014) introduced two scenarios:

(1) food waste is valorized in AD, producing electricity, heat, digestate, and food residue biomass material that can be used as fuel for the cement industry; and

(2) Some waste is valorized to create an animal feed, while others are valorized in AD.

The results show that scenario 2 is 10% more efficient than scenario 1 in exergy analysis with lower environmental impacts due to the avoided products from the traditional supply chain with lower exergy loss. In addition, food waste with lower water content is another reason for higher efficiency in scenario 2. Shirzad et al. (2019) studied electricity generation and GHG emission reduction potentials through AD in Iran in 2016 while focusing on agriculture and livestock wastes. These wastes showed a potential for generating 2848.26 Megawatts (MW). The LCA showed potential for avoiding a minimum of 10,693.5 thousand tons of carbon dioxide equivalent per year. When considering a short-term horizon for generating electricity from different agriculture and livestock wastes, the reduction rate could achieve 24,153 thousand tons of CO_2eq/yr .

7. Identification of possible methods and estimation of likely feasibility of using biofuels other than biogas introduced to existing combustion turbines and pipeline infrastructure to generate electricity in NJ

i. Co-firing electricity generating facilities with dry biomass and liquid

Biomass co-firing is accomplished by combining biomass in a boiler with combustibles such as natural gas or coal to create electricity. This is one of the methods that can also be used in coal-fired plants to reduce non-renewable resources usage (Verma et al., 2017).

Direct co-firing, indirect co-firing, and parallel co-firing are the three co-firing technologies that are employed in power plants. In direct co-firing, biomass is the primary fuel that is supplied directly to the furnace. In this process, the biomass can be ground directly or separately with the primary fuel before being supplied to the furnace. Even though this is the simplest and least expensive technique (Agbor et al., 2014), it can lead to challenges including production of ash deposits (e.g., slagging and fouling), limited co-firing range, and inhibited use of various kinds of biomasses (Roni et al., 2017).

Indirect co-firing technology facilitates biomass to be co-fired in an oil or gas-fired system (Agbor et al., 2014). Indirect co-firing involves the installation of a separate gasifier to transform solid biomass into fuel gas, commonly referred to as syngas. The other type of indirect co-firing is related to pyrolysis, in which biomass fuel is subjected to a destructive distillation process to produce a liquid (bio-oil) and solid char. The bio-oil is then co-fired with natural gas in a station (Nieminen and Karki, 2007). The advantages of this technique outweigh direct co-firing, as (i) the ability to slag a boiler can be minimized, (ii) gasification shortens the time a gas spends in the atmosphere, and (iii) other base fuels like coal, oil, and natural gas can be utilized flexibly (Badour et al., 2012; Jiang et al., 2009).

⁷ Valorization is defined as the act or process of giving, assigning, or enhancing value.

Parallel co-firing entails installing external biomass-fired boilers to make steam that generates electricity in the power plant. Parallel co-firing enhances the biomass percentage while avoiding biomass-related contamination issues. However, this technique has been proven to be more costly than the direct co-firing method since extra infrastructure is needed to support the system (Tillman and Harding, 2004). Electric efficiency in co-firing plants is, on average, higher than that of a dedicated biomass combustion system (IRENA, 2012).

Co-firing level refers to the amount of biomass fuel co-fired. According to the IRENA report (2012), the actual co-firing level used in most commercial facilities accounted for 5-10%, while biomass is believed to replace about 50% of the primary fuel utilized in a co-firing configuration. This shortfall came from the poor biomass quality, boiler type in plant installation, sulfur and nitrogen oxide emissions, and quality of by-product deposits.

ii. Generating electricity using biogas at biogas production sites and feeding this electricity into the grid

As discussed above, biogas is a mixture of methane, CO₂, and small quantities of other gases. Biogas for electricity generation offers an option that is flexible, demand-oriented, and assists in residual load balancing (Brosowski et al., 2016; Lauer et al., 2017; Purkus et al., 2018). Moreover, feeding biogas from production sites into the grid can help stabilize electricity grids, which can be overloaded by the fluctuation of electricity generation caused by use of variable renewable sources such as solar and wind power (Lemmer & Krümpel, 2017). Hybrid systems are also being currently developed where biogas plants are combined with other renewable sources such as solar or wind to produce electricity. Such hybrid systems can be explored in New Jersey particularly where biogas plants are combined with solar.

The advancement in biogas upgrading technology has also resulted in biogas production being upgraded to biomethane. Biomethane has similar qualities to natural gas with respect to methane, trace gases content, etc., and can be used in the grid as a substitute for natural gas to meet traditional end-user demand such as for power plants, industries, and households (Scarlat et al., 2018). To reach full grid injection potential, the biomethane and biogas facilities should be proximally situated to the natural gas grid. New Jersey can benefit from progress being made worldwide on biogas production ranging from commercial scale electricity biogas plants to small scale household digestors.

One can also learn from European experience in biogas production. European nations have emerged as global leaders in biogas production, with installed biofuel systems contributing to a total electricity capacity of over 10 GW, compared to a global electricity capacity of 16 GW (Scarlat et al.,2018). The contribution of biogas can meet a significant share of natural gas consumption; Germany, for example, obtains 12% of their natural gas consumption from biogas produced from manure generated by large livestock operations (Scarlat et al., 2018). The German biogas market is highly influenced by the supporting regulatory framework (Jin and Xu, 2021). The German Renewable Energy Sources Act (EEG) passed in 2000 is credited for promoting bioenergy development in the country (Yang et al., 2021). Under this act, the biogas sector became far more lucrative and biogas plant operators could receive almost twice as much returns as before. Between 2000 and 2017, the number of biogas plants in the country increased from 850 to 9,331, and cumulative installed capacity rose from 50 to 4800 MW/h (Daniel-Gromke et al., 2017; FNR, 2019; Thrän et al., 2020). With the 2009 EEG Amendment, the subsidy for small-scale plants increased, as the large-scale biogas plants led to problems such as a threat to food production and soil health (Gomeiro, 2018; Delzeit et al., 2012; Balussou, 2018).

The availability of biogas or bio-methane in the proximity of natural gas grids with their flexibility in supporting fluctuating, renewable power makes biogas a viable option for cleaner gas grids (Hahn et al., 2014; Vögelin, 2017). For New Jersey to increase biogas production and decarbonize the gas grids, supportive regulatory framework and policy incentives will be instrumental. The biogas sector needs to be made far more lucrative for both small operators and larger scale plants. For smaller operations, biogas can be used for running a micro-turbine for heating purposes and converting a portion of the energy to electricity. This electricity so generated can be used at the household or community levels, with excess energy produced fed to the electricity grid.

iii. Expanded generation of electricity by combined heat and power facilities and other small electricity generating facilities fueled by biofuels other than biogas

Combined heat and power (CHP), an efficient and clean technology, generates electric power and useful thermal energy from a single fuel source (USEPA, 2022b). By capturing the heat that would be wasted otherwise, and by avoiding distribution losses by being located at or near the site of energy use, CHP can achieve efficiencies higher than 80% compared to 50% for technologies such as conventional electricity generation and an on-site boiler (EPA, 2022c).

The enhanced energy efficiency through CHP for productive use of waste heat and reducing demands to the electric power grid has been incentivized by NJ Board of Public Utilities along with Fuel Cell installations. Approximately 87% of existing U.S. CHP capacity is located at industrial facilities such as chemical, refining, ethanol, pulp and paper, food processing, glass manufacturing, etc. (USDOE and USEPA, 2012). However, CHP installations can be expanded for commercial or institutional facilities such as schools, colleges and universities, hospitals, hotels, office buildings, nursing homes, prisons, and municipal facilities such as district energy systems and wastewater treatment facilities, and in military installations, prisons, etc. The CHP can also be promoted through utility partnerships with the CHP industry, innovative CHP policies and financing, as well as encouraging CHP in areas where new generation capacity is needed.

The increase in fuel use efficiency of CHP and other small electricity generating facilities with the use of biofuels can lead to reductions in GHG emissions and other criteria pollutants. Chiong et al. (2018) reviewed production and properties of biofuels and evaluated their combustion performances in gas turbines. The alternative fuels comprised of: i) straight vegetable oil (SVO) produced directly from mechanical, chemical and enzymatic extraction methods, ii) biodiesel produced via the process of transesterification of vegetable oil, iii) bioethanol produced from biomass via hydrolysis and fermentation processes, iv) bio-oil produced from pyrolyzing biomass along with synthesis gas, v) hydrogenated vegetable oil (HVO) produced from SVO and animal fats that undergo hydrogenation and isomerization processes, and vi) Fischer-Tropsch (FT) fuel produced from synthesis gas that contains H₂ and CO derived from pyrolysis and gasification processes. They found that for stationary power generation gas turbines, biodiesel, bioethanol, biooil and straight vegetable oil (SVO) can be used despite the variations in physical-chemical properties when compared to fossil fuels. Biodiesel has lower energy content and slightly higher viscosity and density than conventional fossil fuel, however, biodiesel can be a good replacement fuel for gas turbines. The similarity in physical properties between biodiesel and traditional fossil fuel allows its use in the gas turbine with minimal modification to the existing system. The SVO and bio-oil on the other hand have high viscosity and density which may result in reduced efficiency of

fuel flow delivery, clogging of the atomizer orifice and would call for parallel development of fuel supply systems and atomization technologies to improve the fuel combustion (Chiong et al., 2018).

Bioethanol has a low flash point, low viscosity, and high vapor pressure, so use of bioethanol in gas turbines would require modification of fuel storage and delivery systems. The use of bioethanol in gas turbines would also increase operating costs as its calorific value is lower than natural gas or diesel. If needed, bioethanol may be blended with conventional or more viscous fuels rather than using neat bioethanol in gas turbines. Dual-fuel operation, bi-fuel operation or blending biofuels with conventional fuel can be used if biofuel availability or quality do not meet requirements. Bi-fuel feeds two different fuels during the combustion process together, while in the dual-fuel scenario two of three different fuels can be chosen (liquid-gas, gas-gas or liquid-liquid) during operation (Gralike et al., 2017).

Salman et al. (2020) retrofitted existing CHP facilities with pyrolysis and gasification thermochemical processes, and upgraded the intermediate bio-oil with hydrogen generated by onsite waste gasification. They investigated the technological and financial viability of such integrated plants and found that these plants were able to operate on approximately 180 days of the year by utilizing only excess heat from the CHP plant. Variations in power prices and CHP plant working hours, on the other hand, could reduce the system's economic benefits. Another study looked at how biorefineries upgrade pyrolysis products and the benefits of using bio-oil to supply vital transportation fuels and chemicals (Daraei et al., 2021). The study also emphasized the increased efficiency and cost savings of combining the pyrolysis process with other energy technologies in a single biorefinery.

Integration of pyrolysis oil production has the potential to be economically beneficial. Various technologies can be used to enrich the products acquired by pyrolysis. However, the conversion of bio-oil to a usable form has been a challenge despite the accessibility of certain techniques for bio-oil upgradation, such as hydrotreating, hydrocracking, esterification, and steam reforming. Improving the conversion of bio-oil to be more useable is important as these products have the potential to be used in place of fossil fuels (Gupta and Mondal, 2022).

A recent study suggests that a small-scale CHP system leads to lower emission and energy use through an integrated energy system (Falbo et al., 2022). The system is made up of a topping biodiesel-fired internal combustion engine (ICE) and a bottoming waste-heat recovery transcritical organic Rankine cycle (TORC). The TORC sub-system receives energy from the engine exhaust gas, while the ICE cooling circuit contributes energy to ensure low-temperature heat generation. There is also a thermal energy storage (TES) unit for utilizing the thermal surplus, as well as an auxiliary boiler. To determine the correct organic working fluid for the TORC sub-system, a preliminary analysis is performed. After, a biodiesel ICE-TORC combination system is used to meet a commercial center's thermal and electric needs. Hourly energy balances are examined for this purpose, and then supplemented with an annual techno-economic study. The researched system promises a primary energy savings of 16.7% and a payback time of 8.4 years.

Facilities that use biofuels—especially those with a lower heating value—in gas turbines can experience the added benefit of increased gas turbine performance due to the added mass flow in the cycle (Mikielewicz et al. 2019; Sallevelt et al., 2013: Seljak et al., 2020). The research on biofuel use in gas turbines have focused predominantly on fuel properties and its combustion characteristics, emissions and the effect of fuel, and combustion products on the turbine (IEnagi et

al., 2018), however, the techno-economic aspects and site-specific factors can considerably influence biofuel utilization in turbines, and must be explored further in context for the State of New Jersey.

7. Alternative uses for biogas that could take precedence over electric generation: building/space heating

Instead of being used in the effort to reach the goal of the production of 10.1 TWh/year of electricity, biogas, once introduced to the gas pipeline infrastructure, could be combusted directly to provide space heating, industrial process heat, hot water, etc. While this use would not contribute to the 10.1 TWh/year goal and thus would not contribute to the needed firm capacity to help accommodate the intermittency of solar and wind power, it would nevertheless provide GHG reduction benefits.

An upside of solar and wind's intermittency, i.e., potential excessive electricity generation at certain times of the day or season, could represent another way in which a different type of renewable natural gas could play a role in GHG emissions reduction. This is the so-called "power to gas" concept (AGF, 2019) in which hydrogen produced by electrolysis of water with the use of surplus electricity could be combined with carbon dioxide that had been captured from fossil fuel combustion sources to produce methane that could then be introduced to the pipeline system. This would enable use of existing natural gas infrastructure and combustion technology without the issues such as metal embrittlement and need for retrofits that could accompany an attempted transition to hydrogen as a way of accommodating surplus electricity production from intermittent sources.

8. Alternate uses of available biomass that could take precedence over its use to produce biogas

i. Aviation biofuels:

The aviation sector holds much promise for the use of advanced biofuels. The European Union proposes an EU-wide minimum tax rate for polluting aviation fuels to reduce CO₂ emissions by 55% by 2030. In addition, several U.S. aviation companies show strong interest in renewable fuels, including United Airlines, whose hub is in Newark, NJ. U.S. civilian aviation consumes over 600 million gallons of jet fuel per year (US DOE/EIA, 2019a), a sizeable market by any standards. Besides, it is one of the areas emphasized by federal agencies: "The U.S. Department of Energy Bioenergy Technologies Office (BETO) empowers energy companies and aviation stakeholders by supporting advances in research, development, and demonstration to overcome barriers for widespread deployment of low-carbon sustainable aviation fuel (SAF). SAF made from renewable biomass and waste resources can deliver the performance of petroleum-based jet fuel but with a fraction of its carbon footprint, giving airlines solid footing for decoupling greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions from the flight. The U.S. Department of Energy is working with the U.S. Department of Transportation, the U.S. Department of Agriculture, and other federal government agencies to develop a comprehensive strategy for scaling up new technologies to produce SAF on a commercial scale." [https://www.energy.gov/eere/bioenergy/sustainable-aviation-fuels] Skaggs, et al. (2018) found that with conversion by hydrothermal liquefaction, biomass wastes have the potential to

produce up to 22.3 GL/y (5.9 Bgal/y) of a biocrude oil intermediate that could be upgraded and refined into a variety of liquid fuels, in particular renewable diesel and jet fuel, and could potentially meet nearly a quarter of current U.S. demand for these fuels. Production of jet fuel and other liquid fuels from biomass can have negative impacts, however. A literature review (Jeswani, et al., 2020) noted that some studies have found that reductions in GHG emissions from biofuels are achieved at the expense of other impacts, such acidification, eutrophication, water footprint and biodiversity loss.

ii. Carbon sequestration:

Carbon sequestration can significantly reduce CO_2 emissions to the atmosphere and is essential to any climate mitigation scheme. Possibilities for carbon sequestration (i.e., its removal from the air) include a range of measures that can be broadly categorized as engineered and biological approaches.

One form of an engineered approach is geologic carbon sequestration which typically involves capturing CO₂ from fossil fuel combusting facilities' exhaust gas, pressurizing CO₂ until it becomes a liquid and then injecting it into porous rock formations in geologic basins. Variations of this approach involve direct air capture of CO₂ and subsequent deposition in geological formations. Other forms of carbon sequestration include biological carbon sequestration, which refers to the storage of atmospheric carbon in vegetation, soils, woody products, and aquatic environments. Biological sequestration methods that involve little engineering include improved ecosystem stewardship such as reforestation and afforestation (i.e., planting new forests), conservation agriculture (e.g., no-till systems), and coastal restoration. Biologically based methods that also require some engineering include biochar (which can be produced via pyrolysis of biomass) addition to soils, increased use of wood in buildings, and bioenergy with carbon capture and storage (Field & Mach, 2017).

Examples of large-scale bioenergy with carbon capture and storage projects (BECCS) include the ZEROS and DRAX projects. The ZEROS project introduced two oxyfuel combustion waste-to-energy (WtE) power plants to Texas. The project's capture target is 1.5 Mt of CO₂ per year. Another example is Bechtel and Drax, who work together to develop large-scale BECCS. The formerly coal-fired Drax power station in the U.K. now uses processed biomass fuel. With a capacity of 4.3 Mt per year, it is the world's single largest bioenergy capture plant. This project is part of a more extensive program to eventually deploy CCS on all four DRAX bioenergy power units by the mid-2030s. Biomass power generation is an opportunity for BECCS. Many, but not all projects, intend to store the captured carbon in deep saline formations and dedicated geological storage (Global CCS Institute, 2021).

Nevertheless, carbon sequestration strategies raise concerns. These include the potential for engineered carbon sequestration to be costly and risky and for biological carbon sequestration to be temporary and difficult to quantify.

iii. Soil amendments:

One of the attractions to soil carbon sequestration is that carbon stocks are most depleted in lands currently under agricultural management. Human activity over the past 12,000 years has reduced terrestrial carbon stocks on the order of 145 Gt from woody biomass and soils, 133 Gt from soil carbon stocks, and 379 Gt from other biomass. These estimates of historical losses indicate a

hypothetical though highly impractical upper bound for restoring terrestrial carbon stocks through adjustments to land management (NAP, 2019).

However, even if this upper bound limit is out of reach, there is reason for optimism that, if phasedown of fossil fuel emissions begins soon, improved agricultural and forestry practices, including reforestation and steps to improve soil fertility and increase its carbon content may provide much of the CO₂ extraction that will be necessary (Hansen, et al., 2017). Land under cultivation or in rangeland or forestry management does not require conversions and does not compete for land resources. Besides, soil organic matter/soil carbon content increases are beneficial to soil health and fertility.

10. Assessment of viability of biofuels options to meet NJ's net neutral electricity generation goals

The options that could enable expanded production of electricity from biomass fuels in New Jersey span a continuum ranging from 1) currently feasible, 2) reasonably possible with current technologies, 3) technically feasible with current technologies but requiring major new efforts, to 4) hypothetical; requiring major new efforts and new technology.

The total amount of biomass generated in New Jersey that could be available each year for conversion to energy in some form has been estimated to be from 1.9 million tons (NREL, 2016) to 4.1 million tons (NJAES, 2015). Much of this material is waste wood or woody material, also termed cellulosic wastes. Harvesting all the energy potential of all of this biomass and converting it to electricity is not feasible with current technology. This is because the carbon in this woody material is present in refractory substances such as cellulose and lignin. These substances resist degradation and conversion to methane without high inputs of energy such as heat. On the other hand, using the wet organic portion of biomass waste to produce biogas through anaerobic digestion, and combusting this biogas to generate electricity is feasible and is already being done to a small extent. Unless new methods are developed, the feedstocks of choice for biogas production are thus food waste and other wet organic wastes such as wastewater treatment plant sludge.

The SAB has searched scientific literature and other sources of information in an effort to gain a better picture of the degree to which existing biogas production could be expanded and to clarify the issues, challenges, and complexities associated with such an expansion. Significant uncertainties remain, making quantitative predictions speculative. However, the SAB has gathered an approximate categorization of the range of electricity production that could result from biogas production that could be accessible to New Jersey by 2050. Uncertainties of these numbers are not well defined but should be assumed to be at least plus or minus 50%.

The availability of biogas as CH₄ for combustion at New Jersey natural gas facilities by 2050 was estimated under multiple scenarios. At this time, the availability of approximately 60 million m³ of biogas annually appears feasible, if 50% of food wastes covered by NJ's food waste law are collected and used to produce biogas through anaerobic digestion, if the estimated production from Trenton Biogas continues, and if the projected production from the proposed Linden Renewable Energy facility materializes. This amount of biogas, if injected into the existing natural gas pipeline system, could produce 0.3 TWh of yearly electrical production, assuming the current average efficiency for NJ natural gas combustion facilities is unchanged.

With current technologies, it is reasonably possible for 150 million m³ of biogas to be available annually. This amount of biogas could lead to 0.7 TWh of yearly electrical production. This estimation includes reported and projected production from Trenton Biogas and the proposed Linden Renewable Energy facility, and conversion to biogas from 50% collection of all food wastes generated in the state, including residences and facilities not covered by NJ's food waste law, and 50% of potential generation from NJ landfills and wastewater treatment plants.

This report focuses on the availability of biofuels primarily from waste products in New Jersey using current technologies. The potential range for electricity production could be expanded if other sources are considered. Lignocellulosic wastes could contribute to the quantity of available biogas if thermal conversion is perfected, or another new technology is developed. Importing biogas from other states could also support additional electricity generation. However, the SAB could find no valid way of estimating the volume of biogas available annually and the associated yearly electricity production possible for these hypothetical situations.

It should be noted that collection of food waste that is currently disposed of as municipal solid waste, regardless of whether this waste is generated by facilities subject to New Jersey's food waste law or the waste collection is expanded to include residential and other small generators' food waste, and its processing by dedicated anerobic digestion facilities implies a separate waste stream, which would eventually lower the amount of methane produced by landfills. It would take many years for landfill gas production to decline however, because much of the gas generated is from waste already in place.

Separate collection of food waste, unless it could displace regular waste collection by, for example, shifting weekly collections to biweekly collections alternating between food waste and other waste, will also require some energy expenditure, which, whether it is derived from direct combustion of fuels (e.g., diesel-powered collection vehicles) or use of electricity, will detract from the overall greenhouse gas benefit. It should also be noted that, for food-waste generated methane to reach its maximum production potential, competing uses of food waste and other wet organic waste such as direct composting to yield soil amendments will have to divert only a relatively small portion of the wastes, and reductions in the amount of food waste generated will have to be minimal.

Overall, unless massive quantities of food waste and other wet organic waste are imported to the State, or dramatic new technology is developed to transform biomass into gaseous fuels it is hard to see how even a greatly expanded system to process food waste and to extensively capture biogas produced by wastewater treatment plants and landfills could produce enough biogas to be capable of adding much more than 1 TWh per year of electricity to NJ's production.

11. Implications and Recommendations

i. Implications

The SAB concludes that, unless technology yet to be developed changes the picture, achieving 10.1 TWh per year from biogas produced in the State from biomass wastes is unrealistic, and basing the plan to achieve the 80x50 goal in part on this production calls into question the validity of that part of the plan in its current form.

The SAB must stress, however, that A significant production of biomass from food and other wet organic waste is possible, and its introduction to the existing natural gas distribution system should not be excessively problematic. Even considering that this production will incur some energetic

and economic costs, offsetting the emissions of methane that would otherwise occur with current management of wastes is likely to have a net greenhouse gas emission benefit because of methane's high global warming potential relative to the CO_2 released upon its combustion.

Emissions benefits of using biogas derived through anaerobic digestion of wet organic wastes versus landfilling these wastes can be modeled using EPA's Waste Reduction Model (WARM). A recent study (Dill, 2021) also estimated these benefits for Bergen County, NJ using various assumptions and calculations (see Section 4, above). A simplified run of the WARM model using its default parameters indicates that managing these wastes with AD will reduce greenhouse gas emissions in the range of 0.5 to 0.6 MTCO₂e per ton of food waste (Aucott, 2022). WARM also indicates that a similar degree of GHG reduction results from composting or incineration vs. landfilling (unlike landfilling, these management methods also do not release methane). WARM further indicates that source reduction of food waste yields by far the biggest emissions benefit when compared to any waste management method; on the order of 4 MTCO₂e per ton of food waste reduced.

If an approximate WARM-derived estimate of 0.55 MTCO₂e reduced per ton of food waste managed via AD instead of landfilling is projected to the entire state, and with the assumptions (as discussed in Section 4, above) that approximately 1,000,000 tons of food waste are generated annually in New Jersey, and that all of this food waste is source separated and managed with AD, the total GHG emissions benefit would be in the range of 1,000,000 x 0.55 metric tons of carbon dioxide equivalent, or approximately 550,000 MTCO₂e per year. Since the state's current GHG emissions are approximately 97,000,000 MTCO₂e per year, statewide emissions would be reduced by approximately 0.57%.

Achieving practical and equitable organic materials management in the State will require a balancing of various interests that may not be consistent with maximizing the production of biogas. There are several reasons why biogas production from wastes could be lower than even the relatively conservative general estimates presented in section 10, above. One of these is that there are important, environmentally friendly, and economically attractive competing uses for some wastes. Many carbon containing wastes such as agricultural wastes and woody plant matter are currently returned to the soil directly or composted and applied to soils with beneficial impacts, and their exclusion from their current role in favor of biogas production could exacerbate the loss of soil organic matter with deleterious results.

Biomass wastes also may be a prime feedstock for the production of liquid fuels, especially jet fuel and diesel fuel. Aircraft and heavy-duty construction and freight hauling equipment will be harder to electrify than light duty vehicles. Available biomass may find a more attractive market for liquid products than for biogas, and in this manner play a key role in decarbonizing the economy.

Another reason for lower biogas production expectations is that there are efforts in play to lower the generation of food waste, and these efforts could conflict to some degree with efforts to glean more food waste for biogas production. New Jersey's Food Waste Reduction Law, P.L. 2017, c. 136 (S3027), established a goal of reducing food waste by 50%, based on 2017 food waste estimates, by the year 2030. It should be noted that reducing food waste, if done in a way that makes quality food available that would otherwise be wasted, could play an important role in reducing the persistent problem of food insecurity and food inequity in the State.

ii. Recommendations

The SAB analysis finds that by 2050, up to 1 TWh of electricity could conceivably be produced from currently available biogas and biofuel feedstocks available in NJ. This number (i.e., 1 TWh of electricity) was based on the 0.7 TWh of electricity that was stated to be available with current technology in Section 10 but was rounded up to 1 TWh of electricity to account for the uncertainty associated with the value. This could contribute towards meeting the state's goal of 17 GW of firm capacity based on biogas, biofuels and hydrogen that would be capable of generating 10.1 TWh of electricity by 2050. The SAB has not researched the possibilities of hydrogen, which could be a potentially significant source of electricity for the state as well. The SAB recommends further research and analyses in this area to meet the state's GHG reduction goal by 2050.

When assessing the feasibility of using biomethane as the means of delivering primary energy to power plants, it should be considered in the competitive economic context of related energy carriers such as hydrogen and ammonia, where much innovation is underway (Clark et al., 2022; Bhandari & Shah, 2021; Hochman et al., 2020; Andrews, 2006). Such innovation could lead to a restructuring of the electricity grid if, for example, hydrogen becomes an important energy carrier (Shih & Haile, 2022; Andrews, 2006).

Although emissions benefits can be estimated with models, modeled outcomes are dependent on input parameters, which can be highly uncertain. This dependence emphasizes the importance of obtaining comprehensive data on AD facilities operating in New Jersey. The current biogas systems in the state are installed primarily to manage wastes but could improve profitability for operations through energy and co-product sales, nutrient recovery, and avoided energy costs. In addition to data on AD facilities, more data on waste, food waste, agricultural waste, and composting would also be valuable.

New Jersey has an excellent opportunity in the years ahead to gain a much clearer picture of the costs and benefits of the production of biofuels from biomass via large-scale biogas facilities currently or planned to be operating in New Jersey. Practical foci for data acquisition are the functioning Trenton Biogas facility and the proposed Linden Renewable Energy facility. The SAB recommends that NJDEP adapt existing data gathering capacity, and put in place additional data gathering procedures as necessary. If done in association with existing applicable permitting programs, it would allow for the assessment of all aspects of the energy use and methane production from these facilities as well as the energy use of the associated waste-gathering and processing systems. These data should enable the NJDEP to gain a much clearer picture of the greenhouse gas emissions benefits of biofuels produced from wet organic wastes. The SAB further recommends that the NJDEP expand access to these data to researchers and other interested parties by making such data publicly available.

Also, existing biogas producing plants in other states and nations, especially in the European Union, should be researched. Section 3 of this report includes a list of known facilities in different regions. The SAB encourages the DEP to seek data that sheds light on overall lifetime net carbon emissions from these facilities and their associated systems.

The introduction of algae and its use in biogas production shows much potential, albeit still at the research and development stage. Further investigation into the potential for farming macroalgae is recommended. The numerous benefits from algae include carbon sequestration, reduction of ocean acidification, and habitat generation for many marine creatures, including fish. Some examples of

such systems include bicarbonate-based integrated carbon capture and macro-algae production, systems integrated algae bioenergy carbon capture and storage, and macroalgal ocean afforestation (Leong et al., 2021). Kelp farms co-located with shellfish aquaculture in Maine have been found to raise pH and oxygen concentration while absorbing excess nutrients, thereby preventing eutrophication and improving growing conditions for shellfish (Price and Arnold, 2019). Seaweed farming is also a geoengineering remedy for climate mitigation, whereby dumping the algae grown on the ocean floor is used to stop the carbon from returning to the atmosphere (Hochman and Palatnik, 2022).

The State will need to carefully track and evaluate technological developments of other power sources such as wind, solar, biogas, and next-generation nuclear and geothermal. Energy generated from the anaerobic digestion of wastewater sludge and CHP should be expanded. Further research, including a better understanding of barriers to digesters that prevent full utilization of anaerobic digester capacity and digestion of feedstocks is recommended. High initial project costs pose challenges for the widespread investment and scaling up of biogas systems. The state should consider designing a comprehensive program geared towards WWTPs focused on promoting current incentives, reviewing the efficacy of available incentives, and implementing support programs. This program should be prepared to make long-term modifications, enact supporting regulatory updates, and increase education and outreach. Actions to increase the degree to which biogas receives awareness related to renewable electricity, fuel, carbon reductions, and water quality improvements beyond NJ BPU energy efficiency programs (e.g., renewable energy credits, carbon offsets, nutrient trading credits) can further the commercial viability of different biogas and biomethane production pathways in the State.

As electrification of buildings and transportation proceeds in the coming years and beyond, New Jersey will need considerably more electricity. However, the expansion of renewables will not occur without difficulties, from dealing with intermittency and storage to scaling up and mitigating the transition costs to a sustainable and resilient electricity grid. Energy issues will increasingly be of high priority in the State. Therefore, the DEP should consider augmenting the SAB's Standing Committee on Climate and Atmospheric Sciences with a sub-committee focusing primarily on energy issues or establish a separate standing committee on energy.

References

- Abatzoglou, N., & Boivin, S. (2009). A review of biogas purification processes. *Biofuels, Bioproducts and Biorefining*, **3**(1), 42-71.
- Agbor, E., Zhang, X., & Kumar, A. (2014). A review of biomass co-firing in North America. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, **40**, 930-943.
- Ajhar, M., et al. (2010). Siloxane removal from landfill and digester gas A technology overview. *Bioresource Technology*, **101**, 2913–2923
- Alauddin, Z.A.B.Z., Lahijani, P., Mohammadi, M., & Mohamed, A.R. (2010). Gasification of lignocellulosic biomass in fluidized beds for renewable energy development: A review. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, **14**, 2852-2862.
- Amin, F. R., Khalid, H., El-Mashad, H. M., Chen, C., Liu, G., & Zhang, R. (2021). Functions of bacteria and archaea participating in the bioconversion of organic waste for methane production. Science of The Total Environment, 763, 143007.
- American Biogas Council. 2022. New Jersey. https://americanbiogascouncil.org/resources/stateprofiles/new-jersey/ accessed January 2, 2022
- American Gas Foundation (AGF) 2019, Renewable Sources of Natural Gas, https://gasfoundation.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/12/AGF-2019-RNG-Study-Full-Report-FINAL-12-18-19.pdf, accessed April 8, 2022
- Ando, A. W., & Gosselin, A. Y. (2005). Recycling in multifamily dwellings: does convenience matter?. *Economic Inquiry*, **43**(2), 426-438.
- Andrews, C.J., (2006). Formulating and implementing public policy for new energy carriers. *Proceedings of the IEEE*, **94**(10): 1852–63. DOI: 10.1109/JPROC.2006.883716.
- Appenroth, K. J., Sree, K. S., Böhm, V., Hammann, S., Vetter, W., Leiterer, M., and Jahreis, G. (2017). Nutritional value of duckweeds (Lemnaceae) as human food. *Food Chem.* **217**: 266–273.
- Appenroth, K. J., Sree, K. S., Bog, M., Ecker, J., Seeliger, C., Böhm, V., Lorkowski, S., Sommer, K., Vetter, W., Tolzin-Banasch, K., Kirmse, R., Leiterer, M., Dawczynski, C., Liebisch, G., and Jahreis, G. (2018). Nutritional value of the duckweed species of the genus Wolffia (Lemnaceae) as human food. *Front. Chem.*, 6: 483.
- Astill, G. M., & Shumway, C. R. (2016). Profits from pollutants: Economic feasibility of integrated anaerobic digester and nutrient management systems. *Journal of Environmental Management*, **184**, 353-362.
- Aucott, M., 2022. Simplified run of EPA's WARM model without any modification of default parameters and using input values of 1 ton of food waste managed via landfilling, combustion, composting, anaerobic digestion and source reduction. https://www.epa.gov/warm/versions-waste-reduction-model-warm#15, excel version, accessed 6/5/22.
- Badour, C., Gilbert, A., Xu, C., Li, H., Shao, Y., Tourigny, G., & Preto, F. (2012). Combustion and air emissions from co-firing a wood biomass, a Canadian peat and a Canadian lignite coal in a

bubbling fluidised bed combustor. *Canadian Journal of Chemical Engineering*, **90**(5), 1170-1177.

- Balussou, D. (2018). An analysis of current and future electricity production from biogas in Germany. <u>https://core.ac.uk/display/197489813</u>DOI:10.5445/IR/1000084909
- Barlaz, M. A., Chanton, J. P., & Green, R. B. (2009). Controls on landfill gas collection efficiency: instantaneous and lifetime performance. *J. Air Waste Manag. Assoc.*, **59**(12), 1399-404. doi: 10.3155/1047-3289.59.12.1399. PMID: 20066905.
- Bhandari, R., and Shah, R. R. (2021). Hydrogen as energy carrier: Techno-economic assessment of decentralized hydrogen production in Germany. *Renewable Energy*, **177**, 915-931, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.renene.2021.05.149.
- Bhanthumnavin, K., and McGarry, M. G. (1971). Wolffia arrhiza as a possible source of inexpensive protein. *Nature*, **232**: 495.
- Blanton, E. M., Lott, D. M. C., & Smith, K. N. (2021). Investing in the US Natural Gas Pipeline System to Support Net-Zero Targets. Center on Global Energy Policy, Columbia University.
- Blazey, E. B., and McClure, J. W. (1968). The distribution and taxonomic significance of lignin in the Lemnaceae. *Amer. J. Bot.*, **55**, 1240-1245.
- Borges, A. C., Zaparoli, B. R., de Matos, A. T., Miranda, S. T., Moreira, A. R., & Ranieri, E. (2016). Potential for denitrification in sequencing batch constructed wetlands cultivated with T. latifolia and C. zizanioides. *Desalination and Water Treatment*, **57**(12), 5464-5472.
- Brown, L. M. (1996). Uptake of carbon dioxide from flue gas by microalgae. *Energy Convers Manage*, **37**(6-8), 1363-7.
- Brosowski, A., Thrän, D., Mantau, U., Mahro, B., Erdmann, G., Adler, P., ... & Blanke, C. (2016). A review of biomass potential and current utilisation–Status quo for 93 biogenic wastes and residues in Germany. *Biomass and Bioenergy*, **95**, 257-272.
- Buschmann, A., Varela, D., Cifuentes, M., Hernández-González, M., Henríquez, L., Westermeier, R., & Correa, J. (2004). Experimental indoor cultivation of the carrageenophytic red alga Gigartina skottsbergii. *Aquaculture*, **241**, 357–370.
- Butterworth, E., Richards, A., Jones, M., Mansi, G., Ranieri, E., Dotro, G., & Jefferson, B. (2016). Performance of four full-scale artificially aerated horizontal flow constructed wetlands for domestic wastewater treatment. *Water*, 8(9), 365.
- Cai, J., Lovatelli, A., Aguilar-Manjarrez, J., Cornish, L., Dabbadie, L., Desrochers, A., . . . Yuan. (2021). Seaweeds and microalgae: an overview for unlocking their potential in global aquaculture development. Rome: FAO. doi:https://doi.org/10.4060/cb5670en
- Calicioglu, O., & Brennan, R.A. (2018). Sequential ethanol fermentation and anaerobic digestion increases bioenergy yields from duckweed. *Bioresource Technology*, **257**: 344 348.
- Caposciutti, G., Baccioli, A., Ferrari, L., & Desideri, U. (2020). Biogas from anaerobic digestion: power generation or biomethane production? *Energies*, **13**(3), 743.

- Carrère, H., Dumas, C., Battimelli, A., Batstone, D. J., Delgenes, J. P., Steyer, J. P., & Ferrer, I. (2010). Pretreatment methods to improve sludge anaerobic degradability: a review. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, **183**(1-3), 1-15.
- Cheng, J.J., & Stomp, A.M. (2009). Growing duckweed to recover nutrients from wastewaters and for production of fuel ethanol and animal feed. *Clean Soil Air Water*, **37**, 17-26.
- Chiong, M. C., Chong, C. T., Ng, J. H., Lam, S. S., Tran, M. V., Chong, W. W. F., ... & Valera-Medina, A. (2018). Liquid biofuels production and emissions performance in gas turbines: A review. *Energy Conversion and Management*, **173**, 640-658.
- Chung, I. K., Oak, J. H., Lee, J. A., Shin, J. A., Kim, J. G., and Park, K.-S. (2013). Installing kelp forests/seaweed beds for mitigation and adaptation against global warming: Korean Project Overview. *ICES Journal of Marine Science*, **70**, 1038–1044.
- Clark, D., Malerød-Fjeld, H., Budd, M., Yuste-Tirados, I., Beeaff, D., Asmodt, X., Nguyen, K., Ansaloni, L., Peters, T., & Kjølseth, C. (2022). Single-step hydrogen production from NH₃, CH₄, and biogas in stacked proton ceramic reactors. *Science*, **376**, 390-393, DOI: 10.1126/science.abj3951
- Cowley, C., & Brorsen, B. W. (2018). Anaerobic digester production and cost functions. *Ecological Economics*, **152**, 347-357.
- Cui, W., & Cheng, J.J. (2015). Growing duckweed for biofuel production: a review. *Plant. Biol.*, **17**:16 23.
- Daniel-Gromke, J., Rensberg, N., Denysenko, V., Trommler, M., Reinholz, T., Völler, K., ... & Beyrich, W. (2017). Anlagenbestand Biogas und Biomethan: Biogaserzeugung und-nutzung in Deutschland. DBFZ.
- Daraei, M., Campana, P. E., Avelin, A., Jurasz, J., & Thorin, E. (2021). Impacts of integrating pyrolysis with existing CHP plants and onsite renewable-based hydrogen supply on the system flexibility. *Energy Conversion and Management*, **243**, 114407.
- Delzeit, R., Britz, W., & Kreins, P. (2012). An economic assessment of biogas production and land use under the German Renewable Energy Source Act (No. 1767 [rev.]). Kiel Working Paper.
- Demirbas, Ayhan. (2010). Use of algae as biofuel sources. *Energy Conversion and Management*, **51**, 2738-2749.
- Devi, L., Ptasinski, K.J., Janssen, F.J.J.G. (2003). A review of the primary measures for tar elimination in biomass gasification processes. *Biomass and Bioenergy*, **24**, 125-140.
- Di Capua, F., Spasiano, D., Giordano, A., Adani, F., Fratino, U., Pirozzi, F., & Esposito, G. (2020). Highsolid anaerobic digestion of sewage sludge: Challenges and opportunities. *Applied Energy*, 278, 115608.
- Dill, A. (2021). Economic Analysis of Anaerobic Digestion in Bergen County, New Jersey, Master's Thesis, Thesis Advisors: Paul Gottlieb and Serpil Guran, School of Graduate Studies, Rutgers University, New Brunswick, NJ, <u>https://rucore.libraries.rutgers.edu/rutgers-lib/66780/</u>, accessed January 14, 2023.

- Dyer, A.; Miller, A.C.; Chandra, B.; Maza, J.G.; Tran, C.; Bates, J.; Olivier, V.; Tuininga, A.R. (2021). The feasibility of renewable natural gas in New Jersey. *Sustainability*, **13**, 1618. https://doi.org/10.3390/su13041618.
- Economist. (2021). Floating offshore farms should increase production of seaweed. Science & technology. Oct 2nd 2021 edition. https://www.economist.com/science-and-technology/floating-offshore-farms-may-increase-production-of-seaweed/21805108
- East Bay Municipal Utilities District (EBMUD), 2008. Anaerobic Digestion of Food Waste, Final Report, funding opportunity EPA-R9-WST-06-004, https://archive.epa.gov/region9/organics/web/pdf/ebmudfinalreport.pdf, accessed January 3, 2022.
- Enagi, I. I., Al-Attab, K. A., & Zainal, Z. A. (2018). Liquid biofuels utilization for gas turbines: a review. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, **90**, 43-55.
- Evangelisti, S., Lettieri, P., Borello, D., & Clift, R. (2014). Life cycle assessment of energy from waste via anaerobic digestion: a UK case study. *Waste Management*, **34**(1), 226-237.
- Fachagentur Nachwachsende Rohstoffe{FNR] (2019). Bioenergy in Germany acts and figures. Agency for Renewable Resources.
- Falbo, L., Perrone, D., Morrone, P., & Algieri, A. (2022). Integration of biodiesel internal combustion engines and transcritical organic Rankine cycles for waste-heat recovery in small-scale applications. *International Journal of Energy Research*, **46**(4), 5235-5249.

Fargione, J., et al., (2008). Land clearing and the biofuel carbon debt. Science, 319, 1235-1238.

- Field, C., & Mach, K., (2017). Rightsizing carbon dioxide removal. *Science*, **356**, 706-707.
- Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, (2022). Technical Platform on the Measurement and Reduction of Food Loss and Waste. <u>https://www.fao.org/platform-food-loss-waste/en/</u>.
- Gallagher, B. J., (2011). The economics of producing biodiesel from algae. *Renewable Energy*, **36**, 158-162.
- Gent, S., Twedt, M., Gerometta, C., Almbergy, E., (2017). *Theoretical and Applied Aspects of Biomass Torrefaction*. Chapter Two - Introduction to Feedstocks, pp. 17-39, ISBN 9780128094839, https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-809483-9.00002-6.
- Ghose, S., & Franchetti, M. J. (2018). Economic Aspects of Food Waste-to-Energy System Deployment. In Travold, T., and Babbitt, C. W., (Eds.) *Sustainable Food Waste-to-Energy Systems* (pp. 203-229), Academic Press.
- Girotto, F., Alibardi, L., & Cossu, R. (2015). Food waste generation and industrial uses: A review. *Waste Management*, **45**, 32-41.
- Selzer, M., Glanz, R., & Schneider, F. (2009, October). Causes of food waste generation in households. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/285484556_.
- Global CCS Institute, 2021; https://www.globalccsinstitute.com/wpcontent/uploads/2021/10/2021-Global-Status-of-CCS-Report_Global_CCS_Institute.pdf

- Golberg, A., Robin, A. N., Zollmann, M., Traugott, H., Palatnik, R. R., & Israel, A. (2020a).
 Environmental Impacts of Seaweed Aquaculture. In Macroalgal Biorefineries for the Blue Economy. World Scientific. https://doi.org/10.1142/11937. ISBN-13: 978-9811224287
- Golberg, A., Zollmann, M., Prabhu, M., & Palatnik, R. R. (2020b). Enabling Bioeconomy with Offshore Macroalgae Biorefineries. In C. Keswani (Ed.), Bioeconomy for Sustainable Development (pp. 173-200). Singapore: Springer. doi:https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-13-9431-7
- Golden, J., Handfield, R., Daystar, J., & McConnell, T. (2015). An Economic Impact Analysis of the U.S.
 Biobased Products Industry: A Report to the Congress of the United States of America.
 North Carolina State University: A Joint Publication of the Duke Center for Sustainability & Commerce and the Supply Chain Resource Cooperative.
- Gollehon, N.R., Kellogg, R.L. and Moffitt, D.C., (2016). Estimates of Recoverable and Non-Recoverable Manure Nutrients Based on the Census of Agriculture—2012 Results.
- Gomiero, T. (2018). Large-scale biofuels production: A possible threat to soil conservation and environmental services. *Applied Soil Ecology*, **123**, 729-736.
- Gralike, N., Bouten, T., & Axelsson, L. U. Biofuels–Challenges and Opportunities for Gas Turbines. https://documents.pub/document/biofuels-challenges-and-opportunities-for-gas-turbinesopra-turbines-international.html accessed June 1, 2022.
- Guo, L., Jin, Y.L., Xiao, Y., Tan, L., Tian, X.P., Ding, Y.Q., He, K.Z., Du, A.P., Li, J.M., Yi, Z.L., Wang, S.H., Fang, Y., and Zhao, H., (2020). Energy-efficient and environmentally friendly production of starch-rich duckweed biomass using nitrogen-limited cultivation. *J. Clean. Prod.*, 251, 119726.
- Gupta, G. K., & Mondal, M. K., (2022). Pyrolysis: an alternative approach for utilization of biomass into bioenergy generation. In Gurunathan, B., Sahadevan, R., and Zakaria, Z. (Eds.), *Biofuels and Bioenergy* (pp. 279-300). Elsevier.
- Guran, S., Agblevor, F., Brennan-Tonetta, M., (2018). Biofuels, biopower and bio-products from sustainable biomass: Coupling energy crops and organic waste with clean energy technologies. In Chang, H. N., (Ed.) *Emerging Areas in Bioengineering*,(1st Ed., pp. 127-161), Wiley, <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/9783527803293.ch8</u>.
- Guran , S., (2018). Sustainable waste-to-energy technologies-Gasification and pyrolysis. In Travold, T., and Babbitt, C. W., (Eds.) Sustainable Food Waste-to-Energy Systems (pp. 141-158), Academic Press. eBook ISBN: 9780128111581, Paperback ISBN: 9780128111574, https://www.elsevier.com/books/sustainable-food-waste-to-energy-systems/trabold/978-0-12-811157-4.
- Guran, S., & Specca, D. D., (2015). Assessment of Biomass Energy Potential in New Jersey. file:///Users/lalp/Downloads/Rutgers_NJBiomassPotential_2015.pdf accessed March 2, 2022.
- Hahn, H., Krautkremer, B., Hartmann, K., & Wachendorf, M. (2014). Review of concepts for a demand-driven biogas supply for flexible power generation. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, **29**, 383-393.

- Hale, M., (2018). Maximizing opportunities of anaerobic digestion from wastewater, December 8. https://www.watertechonline.com/wastewater/article/15550717/maximizingopportunities-of-anaerobic-digestion-from-wastewater accessed February 24, 2022.
- Hansen, J., Sato, M., Kharecha, P., von Schuckmann, K., Beerling, D. J., Cao, J., Marcott, S., Masson-Delmotte, V., Prather, M. J., Rohling, E. J., Shakun, J., Smith, P., Lacis, A., Russell, G., and Ruedy, R., (2017). Young people's burden: requirement of negative CO₂ emissions, *Earth Syst. Dynam.*, **8**, 577-616.
- Hermanowicz, S. W., Muller, M. F., Jolis, D., & Sierra, N. Life cycle assessment of food waste management: A conceptual plan analysis.
- Hertel, T. et al., (2010). Effects of US maize ethanol on global land use and greenhouse gas emissions: Estimating narket-mediated responses. *BioScience*, **60**, 223-231.
- Hillman, W.S., (1976). Calibrating duckweeds Light, clocks, metabolism, flowering. *Science*, **193**, 453-458.
- Hochman, G., Goldman, A. S., Felder, F. A., Mayer, J. M., Miller, A. J. M., Holland, P. L., Goldman, L. A., Manocha, P., Song, Z., & Aleti, S., (2020). Potential economic feasibility of direct electrochemical nitrogen reduction as a route to ammonia. *ACS Sustainable Chemistry and Engineering*, 8(24), 8938-8948, DOI: 10.1021/acssuschemeng.0c01206.
- Hochman, G., Guran, S., & Gottlieb, P. (2021). From biogas to biomethane: From waste stream through technologies to corporate added value. RNG Coalition's Report. RNG Coalition.
- Hochman, G. & Palatnik, R.R. (2022). "The Economics of Aquatic Plants: The Case of Algae and Duckweed." *Annual Review of Resource Economics*. 25:24.1-24.22
- Hublin, A., Zokić, T. I., & Zelić, B. (2012). Optimization of biogas production from co-digestion of whey and cow manure. *Biotechnology and Bioprocess Engineering*, **17**(6), 1284-1293.
- Hurtado, A. Q. (2013). Social and economic dimensions of carrageenan seaweed farming in the Philippines. Rome: FAO.
- IEA. (2020). Outlook for biogas and biomethane: Prospects for organic growth. Paris, France: IEA.
- International Renewable Energy Agency (IRENA)., 2012. IRENA-IEA-ETSAP Technology Brief 6: Biomass Co-firing, from https://policycommons.net/artifacts/1638523/irena-iea-etsaptechnology-brief-6/2329490/ on 25 Jun 2022. CID: 20.500.12592/9pshd6.
- Jamal, M., Szefler, A., Kelly, C., & Bond, N., (2019). Commercial and household food waste separation behaviour and the role of local authority: A case study. *International Journal of Recycling of Organic Waste in Agriculture*, **8**(1), 281-290.
- Jeswani HK, Chilvers A, & Azapagic A., (2020) Environmental sustainability of biofuels: a review. *Proc. R. Soc. A* **476**:, 20200351., https://doi.org/10.1098/rspa.2020.0351
- Jiang, H., Ai, N., Wang, M., Ji, D., & Ji, J. (2009). Experimental study on thermal pyrolysis of biomass in molten salt media. *Electrochemistry*, 77(8), 730-735.
- Jin, S., & Xu, J. (2021). The Role of the German State in the Emerging Biogas Industry. In Jiang, J., Zheng, X., and Streimikiene, D. (Eds.), *Proceedings of the International Conference on*

Transformations and Innovations in Business and Education (ICTIBE 2021) (pp. 157-161), Atlantis Press.

- Jain., S., & Newman, D., (2018). Global food waste management: An implementation guide for cities. In Cepeda-Marquez., R., and Zeller, K., C40 Food,Water,and Waste Programme, , World Biogas Association. <u>https://www.worldbiogasassociation.org/wp-</u> <u>content/uploads/2018/05/Global-Food-Waste-Management-Full-report-pdf.pdf</u>
- Jong, E., Higson, A., Walsh, P., & Wellisch, M. (2012). Bio-based Chemicals Value Added Products from Biorefineries. IEA Bioenergy.
- Joshi, S. M., & Gogate, P. R., (2019). Intensifying the biogas production from food waste using ultrasound: Understanding into effect of operating parameters. *Ultrasonics Sonochemistry*, 59 104755.
- Kaur, M., Kumar, M., Singh, D., Sachdeva, S., and Puri, S.K., (2019) A sustainable biorefinery approach for efficient conversion of aquatic weeds into bioethanol and biomethane. *Energy Convers. Manag.*, **187**, 133-147.
- Kelly, E. L., Cannon, A. L., & Smith, J. E. (2020). Environmental impacts and implications of tropical carrageenophyte seaweed farming. *Conservation Biology*, **34**(2), 326-337. doi: https://doi.org/10.1111/cobi.13462.
- Korzen, L., Peled, Y., Zemah Shamir, S., Shechter, M., Gedanken, A., Abelson, A., & Israel, A. (2015).
 An economic analysis of bioethanol production from the marine macroalga Ulva (Chlorophyta). *Technology*, 3(2).
- Kuo, J., and J. Dow, (2017). Biogas production from anaerobic digestion of food waste and relevant air quality implications. *Journal of the Air & Waste Management Association*, **67**:9, 1000-1011, DOI: 10.1080/10962247.2017.1316326
- Labatut, R. A., & Pronto, J. L. (2018). Sustainable waste-to-energy technologies: Anaerobic digestion. In In Travold, T., and Babbitt, C. W., (Eds.) *Sustainable Food Waste-to-Energy Systems* (pp. 47-67), Academic Press.
- Landolt, E. (1986). Biosystematic investigation on the family of duckweeds: The family of Lemnaceae – A monograph study, VEroffentlichungen des Geobotanischen Institutes ETH, Stiftung Rubel, Zurich, Switzerland.
- Lauer, M., Dotzauer, M., Hennig, C., Lehmann, M., Nebel, E., Postel, J., Szarka, N. and Thrän, D., (2017). Flexible power generation scenarios for biogas plants operated in Germany: impacts on economic viability and GHG emissions. *International Journal of Energy Research*, 41(1), pp.63-80.
- Lazard, (2021). Levelized Cost of Energy, Levelized Cost of Storage, and Levelized Cost of Hydrogen. https://www.lazard.com/perspective/levelized-cost-of-energy-levelized-cost-of-storageand-levelized-cost-of-hydrogen/, accessed 7/7/2022
- Lee, C. J., Yangcheng, H. Y., Cheng, J. J., and Jane, J. L., (2016). Starch characterization and ethanol production of duckweed and corn kernel. *Starch-Staerke*, **68**, 348-354.

- Lee, A. K., Lewis, D. M., & Ashman, P. J. (2012). Disruption of microalgal cells for the extraction of lipids for biofuels: Processes and specific energy requirements. *Biomass and Bioenergy*, 46, 89-101.
- Lee, D. H., Behera, S. K., Kim, J. W., & Park, H. S. (2009). Methane production potential of leachate generated from Korean food waste recycling facilities: a lab-scale study. *Waste Management*, **29**(2), 876-882.
- Lehmann, J. (2007). Bioenergy in the Black. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment, 5, 381–387
- Lemmer, A., & Krümpel, J., (2017). Demand-driven biogas production in anaerobic filters. *Applied Energy*, **185**, 885-894.
- Leong, Y. K., Chew, K. W., Chen, W.-H., Chang, J.-S., & Show, P. L., (2021). Reuniting the biogeochemistry of algae for a low-carbon circular bioeconomy. *Trends in Plant Science*, 26, 729-740, ISSN 1360-1385, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tplants.2020.12.010.
- Levitan, O., Dinamarca, J., Hochman, G., & Falkowski, P. G. (2014). Diatoms: a fossil fuel of the future. *Trends in Biotechnology*, **32**(3), 117-124.
- Linden Renewable Energy Project (LRE), 2022. https://www.rngenergysolutions.com/assets/docs/linden_press_release.pdf, accessed January 31, 2022.
- Liu, S., Deng, Z., Li, H., & Feng, K. (2019). Contribution of electrodes and electric current to process stability and methane production during the electro-fermentation of food waste. *Bioresource Technology*, **288**, 121536.
- Liu, Y., Chen, X.Y., Wang, X.H., Fang, Y., Zhang, Y., Huang, M.J., & Zhao, H (2018). The influence of different plant hormones on biomass and starch accumulation of duckweed: A renewable feedstock for bioethanol production. *Renew. Energy*, **138**, 659-665.
- Ma, J., Duong, T. H., Smits, M., Verstraete, W., & Carballa, M. (2011). Enhanced biomethanation of kitchen waste by different pre-treatments. *Bioresource Technology*, **102**(2), 592-599.
- Mac Monagail, M., Cornish, L., Morrison, L., Araújo, R., & Critchley, A. T. (2017). Sustainable harvesting of wild seaweed resources. *European Journal of Phycology*, **52**:4, 371-390, DOI: 10.1080/09670262.2017.1365273.
- Maragkaki, A. E., Fountoulakis, M., Gypakis, A., Kyriakou, A., Lasaridi, K., & Manios, T. (2017). Pilotscale anaerobic co-digestion of sewage sludge with agro-industrial by-products for increased biogas production of existing digesters at wastewater treatment plants. *Waste Management*, **59**, 362-370.
- McHugh, D. (2003). A guide to the seaweed industry. Rome: FAO.
- Mckinsey & Company (2022). Decarbonizing US gas utilities: The potential role of a clean-fuels system in the energy transition. https://www.mckinsey.com/industries/electric-power-and-natural-gas/our-insights/decarbonizing-us-gas-utilities-the-potential-role-of-a-clean-fuels-system-in-the-energy-transition. Accessed January 23, 2022.

- Mendez, L., Mahdy, A., Timmers, R. A., Ballesteros, M., & González-Fernández, C. (2013). Enhancing methane production of Chlorella vulgaris via thermochemical pretreatments. *Bioresource Technology*, **149**, 136-141.
- Mikielewicz, D., Kosowski, K., Tucki, K., Piwowarski, M., Stępień, R., Orynycz, O., & Włodarski, W. (2019). Influence of different biofuels on the efficiency of gas turbine cycles for prosumer and distributed energy power plants. *Energies*, **12**(16), 3173.
- Molino, A., Nanna, F., Ding, Y., Bikson, B., & Braccio, G. (2013). Biomethane production by anaerobic digestion of organic waste. *Fuel*, **103**, 1003-1009.
- Mshandete, A. M., Bjouml, L., Kivaisi, A. K., Rubindamayugi, M. S. T., & Mattiasson, B. (2008). Twostage anaerobic digestion of aerobic pre-treated sisal leaf decortications residues: hydrolases activities and biogas production profile. *African Journal of Biochemistry Research*, **2**(11), 211-218.
- National Academies Press, 2019. Negative Emissions Technologies and Reliable Sequestration, http://nap.edu/25259
- National Renewable Energy Laboratory (NREL). 2013. BioGas Energy Potential for the United States. Energy Analysis Factsheet. Accessed on March 24, 2022 at https://www.nrel.gov/docs/fy14osti/60178.pdf.
- National Renewable Energy Laboratory (NREL), 2016. Biopower Atlas, https://maps.nrel.gov/biopower-atlas/, accessed April 15, 2022
- New Jersey Agricultural Experiment Station (NJAES), 2015. Assessment of Biomass Energy Potential in New Jersey, version 2.0. Rutgers University NJAES and Rutgers EcoComplex
- New Jersey Board of Public Utilities (2019). Energy Master Plan: Pathway to 2050, https://nj.gov/emp/docs/pdf/2020_NJBPU_EMP.pdf, accessed September 11, 2022.
- New Jersey Clean Energy (NJcleanenergy), 2022. New Jersey Solar Installations Report as of 1/31/2022 (Annual Capacity), https://www.njcleanenergy.com/renewableenergy/project-activity-reports/project-activity-reports, "installation report" accessed April 19, 2022
- New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection (NJDEP), 2022. New Jersey Greenhouse Gas Inventory: 2022 Mid-cycle Update Report, December 2022, <u>https://dep.nj.gov/wpcontent/uploads/ghg/2022-ghg-inventory-mcu_final.pdf</u>, accessed January 14, 2023.
- (Data are based primarily on in-state consumption estimates provided by US DOE EIA and DEP's emission statement database.)
- New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection (NJDEP), 2019a. Food Waste Reduction Plan https://www.nj.gov/dep/dshw/food-waste/food_waste_reduction_plan.html, accessed January 11, 2022.
- New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection (NJDEP), 2020. New Jersey's Global Warming Response Act 80x50 Report, https://www.nj.gov/dep/climatechange/docs/nj-gwra-80x50report-2020.pdf, accessed April 19, 2022

- New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection, Bureau of Climate Change and Clean Energy (NJDEP/BCCCE), 2021. Operating Food Waste Generating Facilities in NJ. Data obtained from EPA's Excess Food Opportunities map at https://www.epa.gov/sustainablemanagement-food/excess-food-opportunities-map, downloaded on March 11th, 2021.\
- New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection, Division of Sustainable Waste Management, 2023. Food Waste Recycling and Food Waste-to-Energy Production Law (P.L. 2020 c.24), <u>https://www.nj.gov/dep/dshw/food-waste-recycling-law/</u>, accessed January 15, 2023.
- New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection, Division of Sustainable Waste Management, 2023a, List Of Authorized Food Waste Recycling Facilities, <u>https://nj.gov/dep/dshw/food-waste-recycling-law/food-waste-recycle-facilities.html</u>, accessed January 19, 2023.
- New York State Energy Research and Development Authority (NYSERDA), 2021. Potential of Renewable Natural Gas in New York State, NYSERDA Report Number 21-34. Prepared by ICF Resources, L.L.C., Fairfax, VA 22031. nyserda.ny.gov/publications, downloaded September 22, 2022
- Nieminen, M., & Karki, J. (2007). Status of Co-firing Technology within Europe–Indirect co-firing technologies. European Biomass Association (Aebiom).
- Nigam, P., & Singh, A. (2011). Production of liquid biofuels from renewable resources. *Prog. Energy Combust. Sci.*, **37**, 52–68.
- Novarino, D., & Zanetti, M. C. (2012). Anaerobic digestion of extruded OFMSW. *Bioresource Technology*, **104**, 44-50.
- Packer, M. (2009). Algal capture of carbon dioxide; biomass generation as a tool for greenhouse gas mitigation with reference to New Zealand energy strategy and policy. *Energy Policy*, **37**(9), 3428-3437.
- Palatnik, R. R., & Zilberman, D. (2017). Economics of natural resource utilization the case of macroalgae. In Pinto, A., & Zilberman, D., (Eds.), *Modeling, Dynamics, Optimization and Bioeconomics* (2nd Ed., pp. 1-21). Nature Springer.
- Parizeau, K., Von Massow, M., & Martin, R. (2015). Household-level dynamics of food waste production and related beliefs, attitudes, and behaviours in Guelph, Ontario. *Waste Management*, **35**, 207-217.
- Park, K. H., Thompson, A. G., Marinier, M., Clark, K., & Wagner-Riddle, C. (2006). Greenhouse gas emissions from stored liquid swine manure in a cold climate. *Atmospheric environment*, *40*(4), 618-627.
- Phadke, A., Palliwal, U., Abhyankar, N., McNair, T., Paulos, B., Wooley, D., and O'Connell, R., (2020a).
 2035 Report: Plummeting Solar, Wind, and Battery Costs Can Accelerate Our Clean Energy Future. 2035 Report. Goldman School of Public Policy, University of California Berkeley. Avilable at http://www.2035report.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/06/2035-Report.pdf?hsCtaTracking=8a85e9ea-4ed3-4ec0-b4c6-906934306ddb%7Cc68c2ac2-1db0-4d1c-82a1-65ef4daaf6c1

- Phadke, A., Aggarwal, S., O'Boyle, M., Gimon, E., & Abhyankar, N. (2020b). Illustrative Pathways to 100 Percent Zero Carbon Power by 2035 without Increasing Customer Costs. Energy Innovation, September.
- Pierce, J.L., (2005). Siloxane quantification, removal and impact on landfill gas utilization facilities", 8th Annual LMOP Conference, January 10-11, 2005. https://p2infohouse.org/ref/05/04539.pdf
- Price, N., and Arnold, S., (2019). Kelp farming as a potential strategy for remediating ocean acidification and improving shellfish cultivation, AGU Ocean Sciences 2019 Presentation. https://agu.confex.com/agu/osm20/preliminaryview.cgi/Paper655955.html
- Purkus, A., Gawel, E., Szarka, N., Lauer, M., Lenz, V., Ortwein, A., ... & Thrän, D. (2018). Contributions of flexible power generation from biomass to a secure and cost-effective electricity supply a review of potentials, incentives and obstacles in Germany. *Energy, Sustainability and Society*, 8(1), 1-21.
- Popat, S.C., and Deshusses, M.A., (2008). Biological removal of siloxanes from landfill and digester gases: Opportunities and challenges. *Environ. Sci. Technol.*, **42**, 8510-8515.
- Qi, Y., Beecher, N., & Finn, M. (2013). Biogas production and use at water resource recovery facilities in the United States. Water Environment Federation, Alexandria, VA, National Biosolids Partnership'
- Ranieri, E., Giuliano, S., & Ranieri, A. C. (2021). Energy consumption in anaerobic and aerobic based wastewater treatment plants in Italy. *Water Practice and Technology*, 16(3), 851-863.
- Reed, Stanley, 2021. A Monster Wind Turbine Is Upending an Industry, NY Times, https://www.nytimes.com/2021/01/01/business/GE-wind-turbine.html, accessed January 2021
- Ren, H., Jiang, N., Wang, T., Omar, M.M., Ruan, W., & Ghafoor, A. (2018) Enhanced biogas production in the duckweed anaerobic digestion process. J. Energy Res. Technol. – Transaction ASME 140: 041805.
- RNG Energy. (2023). Linden Renewable Energy, LLC. <u>https://rngenergysolutions.com/</u>, accessed March 2023.
- Roni, M. S., Chowdhury, S., Mamun, S., Marufuzzaman, M., Lein, W., & Johnson, S. (2017). Biomass co-firing technology with policies, challenges, and opportunities: A global review. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, **78**, 1089-1101.
- Rousta, K., Bolton, K., Lundin, M., & Dahlén, L. (2015). Quantitative assessment of distance to collection point and improved sorting information on source separation of household waste. *Waste Management*, **40**, 22-30
- RTS, (2022). Food Waste in America, 2022, https://www.rts.com/resources/guides/food-wasteamerica/, accessed April 2022.
- Ruiz, J.A., Juarez, M.C., Morales, M.P., Munoz, P., Mendivil, M.A., (2013). Biomass gasification for electricity generation: Review of current technology barriers. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, **18**, 174-183.

- Salemdeeb, R., Bin Daina, M., Reynolds, C., & Al-Tabbaa, A. (2018). An environmental evaluation of food waste downstream management options: a hybrid LCA approach. *International Journal of Recycling of Organic Waste in Agriculture*, **7**(3), 217-229.
- Sallevelt, J. L., Pozarlik, A. K., Brem, G., Beran, M., & Axelsson, L. U. (2013). Numerical and experimental study of ethanol combustion in an industrial gas turbine. In *Turbo Expo: Power for Land, Sea, and Air* (Vol. 55133, p. V002T03A006). American Society of Mechanical Engineers. doi:https://doi.org/10.1115/GT2013-94618.
- Salman, C. A., Thorin, E., & Yan, J. (2020). Opportunities and limitations for existing CHP plants to integrate polygeneration of drop-in biofuels with onsite hydrogen production. *Energy Conversion and Management*, **221**, 113109.
- Scarlat, N., Fahl, F., Dallemand, J. F., Monforti, F., & Motola, V. (2018). A spatial analysis of biogas potential from manure in Europe. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, **94**, 915-930.
- Schweigkofler, M., and Niessner, R., (2001). Removal of siloxanes in biogas. *Journal of Hazardous Materials*, **83**, 183-196.
- Seghetta, M., Hou, X., Bastianoni, S., Bjerre, A.-B., & Thomsen, M. (2016). Life cycle assessment of macroalgal biorefinery for the production of ethanol, proteins and fertilizers – A step towards a regenerative bioeconomy. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, **137**, 1158-1169. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2016.07.195
- Searchinger T., et al. (2008). Use of U.S. croplands for biofuels increases greenhouse gases through emissions from land-use change. *Science*, **310**, 1238-1240.
- Seljak, T., Buffi, M., Valera-Medina, A., Chong, C. T., Chiaramonti, D., & Katrašnik, T. (2020). Bioliquids and their use in power generation–A technology review. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, **129**, 109930.
- Shao, J., Liu, Z., Ding, Y.Q., Wang, J.M., Li, X.F., and Yang, Y. (2020) Biosynthesis of the starch is improved by the supplement of nickel (Ni2+) in duckweed (Landoltia punctata). *J. Plant Res.*, **133**, 587-596.
- Sharma, Y. C., Singh, B., and Korstad, J., (2011). A critical review on recent methods used for economically viable and eco-friendly development of microalgae as a potential feedstock for synthesis of biodiesel. *Green Chemistry*, **13**, 2993-3006.
- Shih, A.J., & Haile, S.M., (2022). Electrifying membranes to deliver hydrogen. *Science*, **376**, 348-349. DOI: 10.1126/science.abo5369
- Shirzad, M., Panahi, H. K. S., Dashti, B. B., Rajaeifar, M. A., Aghbashlo, M., & Tabatabaei, M., (2019). A comprehensive review on electricity generation and GHG emission reduction potentials through anaerobic digestion of agricultural and livestock/slaughterhouse wastes in Iran. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, **111**, 571-594.
- Siddique, M. N. I., & Wahid, Z. A., (2018). Achievements and perspectives of anaerobic co-digestion: A review. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, **194**, 359-371.

- Sindhu, R., Gnansounou, E., Rebello, S., Binod, P., Varjani, S., Thakur, I. S., ... & Pandey, A., (2019). Conversion of food and kitchen waste to value-added products. *Journal of Environmental Management*, **241**, 619-630.
- Skaggs, R., Coleman, A. M., Seiple, T. E., and Milbrandt, A. R., (2018). Waste-to-energy biofuel production potential for selected feedstocks in the conterminous United States. *Renewable* and Sustainable Energy Reviews, 82, 2640-2651.
- Speight, J.G., (2020). Non-fossil feedstocks. In Speight, J. G., (Ed.) *The Refinery of the Future* (2nd Edition, pp. 343-385), Gulf Professional Publishing, ISBN 9780128169940, https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-816994-0.00010-5.
- Sravan, J. S., Butti, S. K., Sarkar, O., Krishna, K. V., & Mohan, S. V. (2018). Electrofermentation of food waste-regulating acidogenesis towards enhanced volatile fatty acids production. *Chemical Engineering Journal*, 334, 1709-1718.
- Stichnothe, H., Meier, D., & de Bari, I. (2016). Biorefineries: Industry Status and Economics. In Lamers, P., Searcy, E., Hess, R. J., & Stichnothe, H., (Eds.), *Developing the Global Bioeconomy* (pp. 41-67). Amsterdam: Elsevier. doi:http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-805165-8.00003-3.
- Stillwell, A. S., Hoppock, D. C., & Webber, M. E. (2010). Energy recovery from wastewater treatment plants in the United States: A case study of the energy-water nexus. *Sustainability*, 2(4), 945-962. https://doi.org/10.3390/su2040945
- Stokes, R. S., Van Emon, M. L., Loy, D. D., & Hansen, S. L. (2015). Assessment of algae meal as a ruminant feedstuff: Nutrient digestibility in sheep as a model species. *Journal of Animal Science*, **93**(11), 5386-5394.
- Sun, Q., Li, H., Yan, J., Liu, L., Yu, Z., and Yu, X., (2015). Selection of appropriate biogas upgrading technology - a review of biogas cleaning, upgrading and utilization. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, **51**, 521-532
- Sun, Y., Cheng, J.J., Himmel, M.E., Skory, C.D., Adney, W.S., Thomas, S.R., Tisserat, B., Nishimura, Y., & Yamamoto, Y.T., (2007). Expression and characterization of Acidothermus cellulolyticus E1 endoglucanase in transgenic duckweed Lemna minor 8627. *Bioresour. Technol.*, 98, 2866-2872.
- Thrän, D., Schaubach, K., Majer, S., & Horschig, T. (2020). Governance of sustainability in the German biogas sector—adaptive management of the Renewable Energy Act between agriculture and the energy sector. Energy, Sustainability and Society, 10(1), 1-18.
- Tillman, D., & Harding, N. S. (2004). Fuels of opportunity: characteristics and uses in combustion systems. Elsevier.Torres, M. D., Kraan, S., & Dominguez, H. (2019). Seaweed biorefinery. *Rev. Environ. Sci. Biotechnol.*, **18**, 335-388. doi:https://doi.org/10.1007/s11157-019-09496y(0123456789().,-volV)

Trenton Biogas, (2022). https://trentonbiogas.com/ accessed January 10, 2022.

- Tsapekos, P., Kougias, P. G., Treu, L., Campanaro, S., & Angelidaki, I. (2017). Process performance and comparative metagenomic analysis during co-digestion of manure and lignocellulosic biomass for biogas production. *Applied Energy*, **185**, 126-135.
- U. S. Department of Energy, (2016). National Algal Biofuels Technology Review. U.S. Department of Energy, Office of Energy Efficiency and Renewable Energy, Bioenergy Technologies Office.
- U. S. Department of Agriculture NRCS, (2009). Technical Note No.3 Sept. 2009, Planting and Managing Switchgrass as a Biomass Energy Crop.
- USDA-Natural Resources Conservation Service, (2011). Planting and harvesting giant miscanthus as a biomass energy crop. Plant Materials Program, Technical Note 4. http://plantmaterials.nrcs.usda.gov/pubs/NPMtechnotes/npmptn4.pdf Accessed 16 August 2011
- U. S. Department of Energy, Energy Information Agency (US DOE/EIA), (2019). Table C9. Electric Power Sector Consumption Estimates, 2019, https://www.eia.gov/state/seds/sep_sum/html/sum_btu_eu.html, accessed November 14, 2021.
- U.S. Department of Energy, Energy Information Agency (US DOE/EIA, (2019a). Table C2. Energy Consumption Estimates for Selected Energy Sources in Physical Units, 2019, <u>https://www.eia.gov/state/seds/archive/seds2019.pdf</u>, accessed September 27, 2022.
- U. S. Department of Energy, Energy Information Agency (US DOE/EIA), (2022). Natural Gas Prices, https://www.eia.gov/dnav/ng/NG_PRI_SUM_DCU_SNJ_M.htm, accessed January, 2022.
- U. S. Department of Energy, Energy Information Agency (US DOE/EIA), Electric Power Monthly, Table 5.4B, February, reporting 2021 year-to-date total through December 2021, https://www.eia.gov/electricity/monthly/, accessed May, 2022
- USDOE and USEPA (2012). Combined Heat and Power-A Clean Energy Solution. https://www.energy.gov/sites/default/files/2013/11/f4/chp_clean_energy_solution.pdf accessed January 30, 2022
- U. S. Environmental Protection Agency. 2022a. Agstar Data and Trends. https://www.epa.gov/agstar/agstar-data-and-trends Accessed January 23, 2022,
- U. S. Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA), 2022b. Combined Heat and Power (CHP) Partnership. https://www.epa.gov/chp/what-chp. accessed January 24, 2022.accessed January 24, 2022.
- U. S. Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA), 2022c. Combined Heat and Power: Frequently Asked Questions (Updated April 2022). <u>https://www.epa.gov/sites/default/files/2015-07/documents/combined heat and power frequently asked questions.pdf</u>. accessed September 26, 2022.
- U. S. Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA), 2021. Anaerobic Digestion Facilities Processing Food Waste in the United States (2017 & 2018), Survey Results, January 2021, EPA/903/S-21/001, https://www.epa.gov/sites/default/files/2021-02/documents/2021_final_ad_report_feb_2_with_links.pdf, accessed January 3, 2022.

- Vandermeersch, T., Alvarenga, R. A. F., Ragaert, P., & Dewulf, J. (2014). Environmental sustainability assessment of food waste valorization options. *Resources, Conservation and Recycling*, **87**, 57-64.
- Verma, M., Loha, C., Sinha, A. N., & Chatterjee, P. K. (2017). Drying of biomass for utilising in cofiring with coal and its impact on environment–A review. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, **71**, 732-741.
- Vögelin, P. (2017). Characterisation and optimisation of gas engine combined heat and power plants in a volatile energy system (Doctoral dissertation, ETH Zurich).
- Vutai, V., Ma, X. C., & Lu, M. (2016). The role of anaerobic digestion in wastewater management. *EM Magazine*, Air and Waste Management Association, Pittsburgh. http://pubs.awma.org/flip/EM-Sept-2016/vutai.pdf.
- Wang, Y., Wu, H., Zong, M. H., (2008). Improvement of biodiesel production by lipozyme TL IMcatalyzed methanolysis using response surface methodology and acyl migration enhancer. *Bioresour. Technol.*, **99**, 7232-7237.
- Wang, M., Lee, E., Zhang, Q., & Ergas, S. (2014, October). Energy production from anaerobic codigestion of swine manure and microalgae Chlorella sp. In *WEFTEC 2014*. Water Environment Federation.
- Wheless, E., and Pierce, J., (2004). "Siloxanes in Landfill and Digester Gas Update" http://www.scsengineers.com/Papers/Pierce_2004Siloxanes_Update_Paper.pdf
- Wheless, E., and Gary, D., (2002). "Siloxanes in Landfill and Digester Gas". In Proceedings of the 25th SWANA Landfill Gas Symposium, Monterey ,CA, March 25-28, 2002; Solid Waste Association of North Americ; Silver Spring, MD, 2002.
- Yang, X., Liu, Y., Thrän, D., Bezama, A., & Wang, M. (2021). Effects of the German Renewable Energy Sources Act and environmental, social and economic factors on biogas plant adoption and agricultural land use change. *Energy, Sustainability and Society*, **11**(1), 1-22.
- Xu, Y.L., Fang, Y., Lia, A., Yang, G.L., Guo, L., Chen, G.K., Tan, L., He, K.Z., Jin, Y.L., & Zhao, H. (2018). Turion, an innovative duckweed-based starch production system for economical biofuel manufacture. *Ind. Crops Prod.*, **124**, 108-114.
- Zamalloa, C., Vulsteke, E., Albrecht, J., & Verstraete, W. (2011). The techno-economic potential of renewable energy through the anaerobic digestion of microalgae. *Bioresource Technology*. 102(2), 1149-1158.
- Zamanzadeh, M., Hagen, L. H., Svensson, K., Linjordet, R., & Horn, S. J., (2017). Biogas production from food waste via co-digestion and digestion-effects on performance and microbial ecology. *Scientific Reports*, **7**(1), 1-12.
- Zeller, M.A., Hunt, R., and Sharma, S., (2013). Sustainable bioderived polymeric materials and thermoplastic blends made from floating aquatic macrophytes such as "duckweed". *J. Appl. Polym. Sci.*, **2297**(127), 375-386.

Zhao, Q., Leonhardt, E., MacConnell, C., Frear, C., & Chen, S. (2010). Purification technologies for biogas generated by anaerobic digestion. Compressed Biomethane, CSANR Research Report 2010-001.

Zheng, Z., Liu, J., Yuan, X., Wang, X., Zhu, W., Yang, F., & Cui, Z. (2015). Effect of dairy manure to switchgrass co-digestion ratio on methane production and the bacterial community in batch anaerobic digestion. *Applied Energy*, **151**, 249-257.